# UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION Washington, D.C. 20549

# **SCHEDULE 14A**

Proxy Statement Pursuant to Section 14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (Amendment No. )

	by the Registrant [X] by a Party other than the Registrant [ ]					
Check	the appropriate box:					
[]	Preliminary Proxy Statement					
[]	Confidential, For Use of the Commission Only (as permitted by Rule 14a-6(e)(2))					
[X]	Definitive Proxy Statement					
[]	Definitive Additional Materials					
[]	Soliciting Material Under Rule 14a-12					
	ENTERPRISE FINANCIAL SERVICES CORP  (Name of Registrant as Specified In Its Charter)					
	(Name of Person(s) Filing Proxy Statement, if Other Than the Registrant)					
(Name of Registrant as Specified In Its Charter)						

# ENTERPRISE FINANCIAL SERVICES CORP

150 NORTH MERAMEC AVE CLAYTON, MISSOURI 63105

#### NOTICE OF 2022 ANNUAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS

The Annual Meeting of Shareholders of Enterprise Financial Services Corp ("2022 Annual Meeting") will be held on Tuesday, May 3, 2022, at 5:00 p.m. Central Time. Due to the uncertainty and evolving nature of the coronavirus ("COVID-19") pandemic, as well as to support the health and well-being of our shareholders and employees, the 2022 Annual Meeting will be held in a virtual meeting format only. You will not be able to attend the 2022 Annual Meeting physically in-person. To participate in the meeting, visit https://www.virtualshareholdermeeting.com/EFSC2022. Shareholders will be able to attend, submit questions and vote their shares electronically during the 2022 Annual Meeting by logging in with the 16-digit control number included on their proxy card, voting instruction form or notice of internet availability. The 2022 Annual Meeting will begin promptly at 5:00 p.m., Central Time. We encourage you to access the 2022 Annual Meeting prior to the start time. The virtual 2022 Annual Meeting platform is fully supported across browsers (Internet Explorer, Firefox, Chrome, and Safari) and devices (desktops, laptops, tablets, and cell phones). The platform includes functionality that affords shareholders the same meeting participation rights and opportunities they would have at an in-person meeting. Participants should allow ample time to log in and ensure that they can hear streaming audio prior to the start of the 2022 Annual Meeting.

The 2022 Annual Meeting is for the following purposes:

- 1. Proposal A, the election of 14 directors to hold office until the next annual meeting of shareholders or until their successors are elected and have qualified.
- 2. Proposal B, ratification of the appointment of Deloitte & Touche LLP as our independent registered public accounting firm for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2022.
- 3. Proposal C, an advisory (non-binding) vote to approve executive compensation.

The Board of Directors has fixed the close of business on March 9, 2022 as the record date for the determination of shareholders entitled to notice of and to vote at the meeting.

It is important that your shares be represented and voted at the meeting. You have four options for voting your shares:

- 1. vote via the internet,
- 2. vote via the telephone,
- 3. complete and return the proxy card sent to you, or
- 4. vote electronically during the virtual meeting.

For internet or telephone voting, instructions are printed on the proxy card sent to you. You can revoke a proxy at any time prior to its exercise at the 2022 Annual Meeting by following the instructions in the accompanying proxy statement, ("Proxy Statement").

By Order of the Board of Directors,

Nicole M. Iannacone, Corporate Secretary

Clayton, Missouri, March 22, 2022

Important Notice Regarding the Availability of Proxy Materials for the 2022 Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held on Tuesday, May 3, 2022:

This Proxy Statement and our 2021 Annual Report on Form 10-K are available at www.proxyvote.com.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page
PROXY STATEMENT	<u>1</u>
QUESTIONS ABOUT THE MEETING AND THESE PROXY MATERIALS	<u>1</u>
ELECTION OF DIRECTORS - (Proposal A)	<u>5</u>
BOARD AND COMMITTEE INFORMATION	<u>9</u>
DIVERSITY	<u>9</u>
DIRECTOR COMPENSATION	<u>10</u>
EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE	<u>11</u>
AUDIT COMMITTEE	<u>11</u>
NOMINATING AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE	<u>12</u>
COMPENSATION COMMITTEE	<u>12</u>
RISK COMMITTEE	<u>13</u>
CORPORATE CODE OF ETHICS	<u>13</u>
ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE	<u>13</u>
EXECUTIVE OFFICERS	<u>14</u>
EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT	<u>14</u>
EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION	15
COMPENSATION DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS	<u>15</u>
COMPENSATION COMMITTEE REPORT	<u>25</u>
EXECUTIVE EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENTS	<u>26</u>
SUMMARY COMPENSATION TABLE	<u>29</u>
ALL OTHER COMPENSATION – SUPPLEMENTAL TABLE	30
GRANTS OF PLAN-BASED AWARDS	<u>30</u>
OUTSTANDING EQUITY AWARDS AT FISCAL YEAR END	<u>31</u>
OPTION EXERCISES AND STOCK VESTED	<u>32</u>
NONQUALIFIED DEFERRED COMPENSATION	32 33
POTENTIAL PAYMENTS UPON TERMINATION OR CHANGE IN CONTROL	<u>33</u>
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER PAY RATIO	<u>33</u>
COMPENSATION COMMITTEE INTERLOCKS AND INSIDER PARTICIPATION	<u>33</u>
RATIFICATION OF APPOINTMENT OF DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP – (Proposal B)	<u>34</u>
ADVISORY (NON-BINDING) APPROVAL OF EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION – (Proposal C)	35
INFORMATION REGARDING BENEFICIAL OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT	<u>36</u>
RELATED PERSON TRANSACTIONS	38
DELINQUENT SECTION 16(a) REPORTS	38
AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT	<u>39</u>
FEES PAID TO INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM	40
PROPOSALS OF SHAREHOLDERS	<u>40</u>
OTHER MATTERS	41
HOUSEHOLDING	41
ADDITIONAL INFORMATION	41
APPENDIX A - USE OF NON-GAAP FINANCIAL MEASURES	42

# ENTERPRISE FINANCIAL SERVICES CORP

150 NORTH MERAMEC AVE CLAYTON, MISSOURI 63105

#### PROXY STATEMENT

These proxy materials are delivered by the Board of Directors (the "Board") of Enterprise Financial Services Corp (the "Company" or "EFSC"), in connection with the solicitation of proxies to be voted at the 2022 Annual Meeting of Shareholders or any adjournment or postponement thereof. The meeting will be held virtually over the internet on Tuesday, May 3, 2022 at 5:00 p.m. Central Time.

This Proxy Statement and the proxy card were first provided to shareholders on or about March 22, 2022.

## **QUESTIONS ABOUT THE MEETING AND THESE PROXY MATERIALS**

#### What may I vote on?

- 1. Proposal A, the election of 14 directors to hold office until the next annual meeting of shareholders or until their successors are elected and have qualified.
- 2. Proposal B, ratification of the appointment of Deloitte & Touche LLP as our independent registered public accounting firm for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2022.
- 3. Proposal C, an advisory (non-binding) vote to approve executive compensation.

## How does the Board recommend that I vote?

The Board recommends that you vote:

- FOR the election of 14 directors nominated by our board and named in this Proxy Statement under Proposal A;
- FOR the ratification of the appointment of Deloitte & Touche LLP under Proposal B; and
- FOR the approval, on an advisory (non-binding) basis, of executive compensation under Proposal C.

Who can vote at the meeting? The Board has set March 9, 2022 as the record date (the "Record Date") for the 2022 Annual Meeting. All shareholders who owned our common stock at the close of business on the Record Date may vote at the 2022 Annual Meeting. On the Record Date, there were 37,737,590 shares of common stock outstanding. Shares held as of the Record Date include shares that are held directly in your name as the shareholder of record and those shares held for you as a beneficial owner through a stockbroker, bank or other nominee.

**How do I vote my shares?** If your shares are registered directly in your name with our stock transfer agent, Computershare, you are considered a shareholder of record and the beneficial owner of those shares. As a shareholder of record, you have the right to grant your voting proxy directly to the Company, or to vote electronically at the meeting. You may submit your proxy by mail, over the internet at www.proxyvote.com, or via the telephone at 1-800-690-6903.

If your shares are held in a stock brokerage account or by a bank, you are still considered the beneficial owner of those shares, but your shares are said to be held in "street name." Generally, only shareholders of record may vote electronically at the meeting. If your shares are held in "street name," you will receive a form from your broker or bank seeking instruction as to how your shares should be voted. Many of our shareholders who hold their shares in "street name" through a nominee have the option to submit their proxies or voting instructions to their nominee electronically by telephone or the internet. These shareholders should review and follow the voting instructions provided by their nominee, including any instructions related to revoking your voting instructions. You are also invited to attend the virtual 2022 Annual Meeting. However, since you are not

the shareholder of record, you may not vote your shares electronically at the virtual 2022 Annual Meeting unless you obtain a legal proxy from your broker or bank

Internet availability of proxy solicitation and other 2022 Annual Meeting materials. We are furnishing proxy materials to some of our shareholders via the internet by mailing a Notice of Internet Availability of Proxy Materials, instead of mailing printed copies of those materials. The Notice of Internet Availability of Proxy Materials instructs shareholders that our proxy statement, annual report to shareholders, electronic proxy card and related materials are available for viewing, free of charge, on the internet. Shareholders may then access these materials and vote over the internet or request delivery of a full set of materials by mail or email. These rules help us lower the cost of conducting our 2022 Annual Meeting by reducing costs associated with printing and postage.

We mailed the required Notice of Internet Availability of Proxy Materials (the "Notice") to shareholders on or about March 22, 2022. The proxy materials will be posted on the internet, at www.proxyvote.com, no later than the day we begin mailing the Notice. If you receive the Notice, you will not receive a paper or email copy of the proxy materials unless you request one in the manner set forth in the Notice. The Notice will also include instructions on how to access and review the proxy materials online, how to vote your shares over the internet, and how to get a paper or email copy of the proxy materials, if that is your preference.

Can I change my vote? Yes. If you are the shareholder of record, you may revoke your proxy at any time before the 2022 Annual Meeting of shareholders by:

- entering a new vote by internet or telephone;
- returning a later-dated proxy card;
- sending written notice of revocation to the Corporate Secretary of the Company; or
- attending the virtual 2022 Annual Meeting and voting electronically.

To change your vote for shares you hold in street name, you will need to follow the instructions provided by your broker or bank.

How are shares of common stock voted at the meeting? Each holder of common stock is entitled to one vote for each share of common stock held with respect to each matter to be voted upon.

All shares of common stock represented at the 2022 Annual Meeting by properly executed proxies received prior to or at the 2022 Annual Meeting which are not properly revoked will be voted at the 2022 Annual Meeting in accordance with the instructions indicated on the proxies. If no contrary instructions are indicated, proxies will be voted FOR the election of the Board's director nominees in Proposal A, and Proposals B, and C.

How many votes are required to elect each director? A plurality of votes cast at the 2022 Annual Meeting is required for the election of each director, which effectively means that the 14 persons receiving the most votes will be elected as directors. If you indicate "withhold authority to vote" for a particular nominee on your proxy card, your shares will not be voted with respect to those nominees indicated; however, your shares will be counted for purposes of determining whether there is a quorum. There is no cumulative voting for our directors. While directors are elected by a plurality of votes cast, our Board has adopted a majority voting policy for directors. This policy states that in an uncontested election, any nominee who receives a greater number of votes "withheld" from his or her election than votes "for" such election is required to submit his or her resignation to the Board. The Nominating and Governance Committee of the Board is required to make recommendations to the Board with respect to any such tendered resignation. The Board will act on the tendered resignation within 90 days from the certification of the vote and will publicly disclose its decision, including its rationale. Only votes "for" or "withheld" are counted in determining whether a majority has been cast in favor of a nominee. If you cast a "withheld" vote, your vote will have a similar effect as a vote against that director nominee under our majority voting policy for directors. If a nominee fails to receive a majority of the votes cast and the Board accepts the director's resignation, there would be a vacancy created on the Board. Our Board would then have the option under our By-Laws either to appoint someone to fill the vacancy or to reduce the size of the Board.

## How many votes are required to adopt the other proposals?

Each outstanding share of our common stock as of the Record Date is entitled to one vote on each proposal at the 2022 Annual Meeting.

If there is a quorum at the 2022 Annual Meeting, the matters, other than the election of directors, to be voted upon by the shareholders require the following votes for such matter to be approved:

- Proposal B, Ratification of the Company's Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm. The affirmative vote of holders of the majority of the shares for which votes are cast at the 2022 Annual Meeting is required for the ratification of the appointment of Deloitte & Touche LLP as the independent registered public accounting firm for the year ending December 31, 2022. Abstentions will not be counted as votes cast and, therefore, will not affect the outcome.
- Proposal C, Advisory (non-binding) Vote on Approval of Executive Compensation. The affirmative vote of holders of the majority of the shares for which votes are cast at the 2022 Annual Meeting is required to approve, on a non-binding advisory basis, the compensation of the Company's named executive officers. Abstentions and broker "non-votes" will not be counted as votes cast and, therefore, will not affect the outcome.

If a broker indicates on its proxy that it submits to the Company that it does not have authority to vote certain shares held in "street name," the shares not voted are referred to as "broker non-votes." Broker non-votes occur when brokers do not have discretionary voting authority to vote certain shares held in "street name" on particular proposals under the rules of the New York Stock Exchange, and the "beneficial owner" of those shares has not instructed the broker how to vote on those proposals. If you are a beneficial owner and you do not provide instructions to your broker, bank or other nominee, your broker, bank or other nominee is permitted to vote your shares for or against "routine" matters such as Proposal B, the ratification of the appointment of our independent registered public accounting firm. Brokers are not permitted to exercise discretionary voting authority to vote your shares for or against "non-routine" matters. Of the proposals on which shareholders will be asked to vote on at the 2022 Annual Meeting, Proposal B, the ratification of the appointment of our independent registered public accounting firm, is a "routine" matter, while Proposal A, the election of directors, and Proposal C, the advisory vote on approval of executive compensation, are "non-routine" matters.

How do I vote if my shares are held in a benefit plan? If you are a current or former employee of the Company or one of its subsidiaries and you have any portion of your investment funds allocated to the EFSC Common Stock Fund in the EFSC Incentive Savings Plan ("Savings Plan"), you may instruct the Savings Plan's trustees how to vote the shares of common stock allocated to your account under the Savings Plan. You will instruct the voting of your shares in the same manner as other shareholders, i.e., by submitting your voting instructions by telephone or through the internet or by requesting a proxy card to sign and return. Please see the Notice we sent to you or this Proxy Statement for specific instructions on how to provide voting instructions by any of these methods. Please note that your voting instructions for shares held in the Savings Plan must be returned by 11:59 p.m. Eastern Time on April 29, 2022.

## What if I don't give specific voting instructions or abstain?

If you indicate a choice on your proxy on a particular matter to be acted upon, the shares will be voted as indicated.

If you are a shareholder of record and you return a signed proxy card but do not indicate how you wish to vote, the shares will be voted in favor of the director nominees in Proposal A, and in favor of proposals B and C. If you do not return the proxy card, your shares will not be voted and will not be deemed present for the purpose of determining whether a quorum exists.

Under the rules of the New York Stock Exchange, which regulates stock brokers, Proposal B, the ratification of the selection of Deloitte & Touche LLP as the Company's independent registered public accounting firm, is considered a routine matter, and your brokerage firm or other nominee will be entitled to vote your shares in their discretion on this proposal even if you do not provide voting instructions to your broker or other nominee. However, Proposals A and C are not considered routine matters, and brokers will not be permitted to vote on these matters if beneficial owners fail to provide voting instructions. The uninstructed shares that cannot be voted by brokers on non-routine matters are commonly referred to as "broker non-votes."

Abstentions and broker "non-votes" (assuming a quorum is present) will have no effect on Proposal B or C. Votes withheld and broker "non-votes" with respect to the election of any nominee for director will not be considered in determining whether such nominee has received the affirmative vote of a plurality of the votes cast; however, such votes will be considered to have a similar effect as a vote against those director nominees under our majority voting policy.

How can I attend the 2022 Annual Meeting? The 2022 Annual Meeting will be held virtually over the internet. You will be able to participate in the virtual 2022 Annual Meeting and vote your shares electronically by visiting https://www.virtualshareholdermeeting.com/EFSC2022 and entering your sixteen-digit control number located on your proxy card. The virtual 2022 Annual Meeting will begin promptly at 5:00 p.m. Central Time. We encourage you to access the meeting prior to the start time. Online check-in will begin at 4:45 p.m. Central Time, and you should allow ample time for logging in. You will have the same rights and opportunities that you would be afforded by an in-person meeting. Registered shareholders who

login with their control number will be afforded an opportunity to vote their shares during the meeting and comment on proposals during the meeting. Representatives of the Company will be available to respond to relevant comments and questions.

What if I cannot locate my control number? You must have your control number to vote your shares. The sixteen-digit control number is located on your proxy card. If you are unable to locate your control number or proxy card, please note the following:

- If you shares are held in "street name" (i.e. your shares are held in a stock brokerage account or by a bank), you will need to contact your broker or financial institution directly and ask for their proxy department to obtain the necessary information.
- If you are a registered shareholder (i.e. the shares are registered in your name with our stock transfer agent), please send an email to the Company's Investor Relations department, investorrelations@enterprisebank.com, and provide information regarding the name of the person holding the shares and the amount of shares owned.

Who pays for this proxy solicitation? The Company will pay the entire cost of preparing, assembling, printing, mailing and distributing these proxy materials. In addition to solicitation by mail, proxies may be solicited in person or by telephone or by other means by the Company's directors, officers or employees, who will not receive any additional compensation for solicitation activities. The Company has engaged Broadridge Financial Solutions, Inc., for a fee to be determined, to assist in the distribution and tabulation of proxies. The Company will also reimburse brokerage firms and other nominees, custodians and fiduciaries for costs incurred by mailing proxy materials to the beneficial owners of common stock as of the Record Date.

The date of this Proxy Statement is March 22, 2022.

## ELECTION OF DIRECTORS - (Proposal A)

The Board, upon recommendation of its Nominating and Governance Committee, has nominated for election the 14 persons named below, each to hold office until the next annual meeting of shareholders or until their successors are elected and have qualified. It is intended that proxies solicited will be voted for such nominees. There is no cumulative voting for our directors. The Board believes that each nominee named below will be able to serve, but should any nominee be unable to serve as a director, the persons named in the proxies have advised that they will vote for the election of such substitute nominee as the Board may propose.

Under our mandatory retirement policy, a director is generally required to retire at the next annual meeting of shareholders after the later of: reaching age 72 or the fourth anniversary of the director's initial election to the Board, and may not stand for election or re-election thereafter. However, a director need not retire and may stand for re-election if the Board, by unanimous vote, approves a waiver for such director, provided that any such waiver must be renewed annually and no waiver will be made or renewed for any director after reaching the age of 75.

The following biographical information is furnished with respect to each member of the Board, some of whom also serve as directors and officers of one or more of the Company's subsidiaries, including Enterprise Bank & Trust (the "Bank" or "EB&T"). Historically, the Company has had a board of directors of the Bank with limited overlap in membership between the Board and Bank Board. The Board has elected to restructure and combine the Board and Bank Board. The efficiencies gained from the combined membership will allow the Company to eliminate redundant meetings and allow the combined board to focus on issues affecting the holding company and its subsidiaries. The proposed changes to the Board have been unanimously approved by the existing Board. In connection with election of the Board nominees to the Company's Board, these nominees will also be elected to the board of the Bank.

There are no family relationships between or among any directors or executive officers, or nominees thereof, of the Company. Except as noted in the director biographies below, none of the Company's directors or executive officers serves as a director of (i) any company other than EFSC that has a class of securities registered under or that is subject to the periodic reporting requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act") or (ii) any investment company registered under the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended. Other than Mr. Lally, all of our director nominees have been determined to be independent as defined in Nasdaq Rule 5605(a)(2). In some cases, the relationships that we analyzed include relationships that a director has as a partner, member, shareholder, officer or employee of an organization that has a relationship with the Company. They may also include relationships where a family member of a director is a partner, member, shareholder or officer of an organization that is a competitor of, or has a relationship with, the Company.

Name of Nominee	Age	<b>Director Since</b>
Michael A. DeCola	68	2007
John S. Eulich	71	2010
Robert E. Guest, Jr.	67	2002
James M. Havel	67	2014
Michael R. Holmes	63	2015
Peter H. Hui	69	2021
Nevada A. Kent, IV	66	2017
James B. Lally	54	2017
Stephen P. Marsh	66	2022
Daniel A. Rodrigues	66	2022
Richard M. Sanborn	59	2020
Anthony R. Scavuzzo	40	2019
Eloise E. Schmitz	56	2017
Sandra A. Van Trease	61	2005

The biographies of the current directors and nominees below contain information regarding the person's service as a director, business experience, director positions held currently or at any time during the last five years, information regarding involvement in certain legal or administrative proceedings, if applicable, and the experience, qualifications, attributes or skills that caused the Nominating and Governance Committee and the Board to determine that the person should serve as a director.

Michael A. DeCola served as Vice Chairman of HBM Holdings Company ("HBM") from February 2019 through December 2019. Mr. DeCola was the Chief Executive Officer of HBM from January 2014 to February 2019 (President and Chief Executive Officer from January 2014 through September 2018). Mr. DeCola served as Chairperson of the Board of Mississippi Lime Company, a portfolio company of HBM from January 2014 through December 2019. Mr. DeCola was previously the Chairperson of the St. Louis Regional Business Council and is the former Chairperson of the United Way of Greater St. Louis and a member of the Executive Committee. Mr. DeCola serves on the advisory board of several private, family-owned businesses. He brings to the Board extensive executive management experience and connections within the St. Louis business community.

**John S. Eulich** was the Chairperson and CEO of Aspeq Holdings, Inc. (d/b/a INDEECO), a manufacturing company, from 2005 through 2015. Mr. Eulich was a director of LMI Aerospace, Inc. ("LMIA") (Nasdaq: LMIA) from 2005 until the company was sold in 2017. He served as Chairperson of the Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee, and was a member of LMIA's Audit Committee and Compensation Committee. In addition to his public company experience, he is a successful entrepreneur and is familiar with the needs of privately-held businesses. He brings to the Board his network of connections within the St. Louis community.

Robert E. Guest, Jr. has been a partner at the Affinity Law Group since 2007. Mr. Guest brings significant legal experience in commercial activities and in merger and acquisitions. Mr. Guest has over forty years of legal experience and practices in the areas of business growth, mergers and acquisitions, mezzanine debt and capital market financing. Bob serves on the Board of Directors of the St. Louis Aquarium Foundation and advises private and family-owned businesses on properly installing advisory or fiduciary boards. Bob received his Bachelor of Science degree in accounting from Missouri State University and his Juris Doctor from the University of Missouri at Columbia School of Law. Mr. Guest brings significant experience in legal risk management and strategic business planning to the Board.

James M. Havel has served as the Executive Vice Present and Chief Financial Officer at Clayco since March 2019. Previously, he served as Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of Express Scripts Holding Company (Nasdaq: ESRX) from October 2017 through January 2019. Mr. Havel currently serves on the board of directors of Carestream Dental. From April 2016 through November 2016, Mr. Havel served as Chief Operating Officer of Vatterott Education Centers, a privately-held post-secondary trade school. From January 2015 through March 2016, Mr. Havel served as a financial executive with Express Scripts Holding Company. From April 2011 through December 2014, Mr. Havel served as the Chief Financial Officer of Major Brands Holdings. Prior to July 2010, Mr. Havel was a partner with Ernst & Young LLP. Mr. Havel has also previously advised public and private companies on acquisitions and strategic planning in connection with independent consulting work. Mr. Havel brings extensive financial experience in both public and private company environments to the Board. Mr. Havel's public accounting background also provides him with insight into the broad range of businesses and industries the Company serves.

**Judith S. Heeter** serves as the President of Pathfinder Consulting, LLC, a consulting company based in Mission Hills, Kansas which she founded in February 2011. Ms. Heeter is a recently retired member of the Board of Directors of Missouri Employers Mutual Insurance Company, having previously served as Chairperson from 2011 to 2016. She also serves on several non-public boards in the Kansas City metro area. Ms. Heeter brings a variety of executive and legal experience to the Board, including having practiced law for over 30 years. She is experienced in negotiating and implementing strategic business transactions and reorganizations, and she is a Governance Fellow, certified by the National Association of Corporate Directors. She also has a significant business network within the Kansas City community. As announced on March 8, 2022, Ms. Heeter is retiring from the Board and will not stand for re-election at the 2022 Annual Meeting.

Michael R. Holmes has served as Chairperson Emeritus of the Board for Rx Outreach, Inc., since May 2020, having previously served as Chairperson of the Board of Rx Outreach, Inc. since February 2016. Rx Outreach, Inc. is a non-profit pharmacy that dispenses more than 30,000 months of medicine each week to low income individuals across the United States. Previously, he served as President of Rx Outreach, Inc. from October 2010 through January 2016. Prior to that, he served as Executive Vice President of Express Scripts from December 2005 through October 2010, responsible for Corporate Strategy, Research and Clinical Services, Human Resources, Corporate Real Estate, Security, Procurement, and all of its domestic subsidiary businesses. Mr. Holmes has broad public company senior management experience as well as consumer, financial and investment expertise. Mr. Holmes also brings to the Board a valuable perspective on community engagement and underserved markets.

**Peter H. Hui** was a founding member and served as the Chairman of the board of First Choice Bank from August 2005 until July 2021, and served as the Chairman of the board of First Choice Bancorp (Nasdaq: FCBP), the holding company of First Choice Bank, following its organization in 2017 until July 2021. In July 2021, First Choice Bancorp was acquired by the Company; following which, Mr. Hui joined the Board as a director. Mr. Hui is the President of Hospitality Unlimited Investment, a company he founded in 1986. Mr. Hui has thirty-five years of experience in the hospitality business as broker, owner, investor, developer, operator, consultant and general manager of major hotel chains. Mr. Hui brings to the Board his valuable perspective on our California market and his extensive experience in business.

**Nevada A. Kent, IV** has served as an Adjunct Professor of Accounting at Washington University since August 2012. Previously, Mr. Kent worked with Pricewaterhouse Coopers, LLP as Market Managing Partner from July 2004 through June 2012, and Partner from August 1977 through June 2004, performing audit engagements, merger and acquisition engagements, litigation support, and security offerings. Mr. Kent also serves on a number of non-public boards and has over 35 years of auditing experience, including involvement in supervisor roles. He brings his extensive finance and accounting insight to the Board.

James B. Lally joined the Company in 2003 as senior vice president and was named president of the Bank's Clayton unit in 2008. In 2011, he was appointed President of the St. Louis region and three years later assumed responsibility for commercial banking in all regions. In May 2016, Mr. Lally was named Executive Vice President of EFSC, with responsibility for the Company's wealth management, private banking and mortgage businesses, as well as its community development entity. Mr. Lally was named President of EFSC in August 2016 and subsequently became EFSC CEO in May 2017. Prior to EFSC, Mr. Lally served in various commercial banking roles for US Bank and Commerce Bank in St. Louis. Mr. Lally has over 30 years of public banking experience. Mr. Lally brings to the Board his deep knowledge of the financial services industry, the Company and its business.

Stephen P. Marsh has served as Chairperson and Director of the Company's bank subsidiary, Enterprise Bank & Trust ("EB&T"), since 2008. Mr. Marsh previously served as the Executive Vice President, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of EB&T from 2008 until 2014; and Executive Vice President, Chairman and Chief Credit Officer from 2014 until his retirement in April 2016. Mr. Marsh also served as the President of EB&T from 2006 to 2008 and President of Commercial Banking at EB&T from 2003 to 2006. Prior to joining EB&T, Mr. Marsh served as president and senior loan officer of Southwest Bank from 1992 to 2003. Mr. Marsh serves on the board of directors and finance committee of Loyola Academy and previously served on the board of St. Joseph's Institute for the Deaf, Unity Health Services and the University City Planning Commission. Mr. Marsh brings his deep level of understanding of the financial services industry combined with his risk management experience in the areas of credit management and regulatory compliance.

**Daniel A. Rodrigues** has served as executive partner at Hidden Creek Equity since February 2019. Mr. Rodrigues has also served as a member of EB&T's Board of Directors and a member of EB&T's Operations and Technology committee since May 2016. Previously, Mr. Rodrigues served as the vice president and general manager of KLX Aerospace Solutions from May 2016 to April 2017. Mr. Rodrigues also previously served as chief operating officer for Herndon Products, Inc. from January 2008 to May 2016. Mr. Rodrigues also serves as executive chairperson at JGB Enterprises, Inc. and serves on the Dean's Advisory Board of Parks College. Mr. Rodrigues brings his extensive experience in operations and technology as well of his knowledge of EB&T.

Richard M. Sanborn served as a Director, President, and Chief Executive Officer of Seacoast Commerce Banc Holdings ("Seacoast") (OTC: SCBH) and Seacoast Commerce Bank from October 2007 until it was acquired by the Company in November 2020. Mr. Sanborn previously served on the board of the Federal Reserve Bank of San Francisco, is the past Chair of the Federal Reserve Banks Community Depository Institution Advisory Council, a past Chair of the California Bankers Association, a past member of the American Bankers Association Government Relations Council, a past member of the Independent Community Bankers Association lending advisory committee, and is a current member of the National Association of Corporate Directors. Mr. Sanborn has a B.S. in Accounting from Bentley University and a M.B.A. from California Pacific University. He brings deep knowledge of the banking industry and prior management and leadership experience of another financial institution to the Board.

Anthony R. Scavuzzo is a principal at Castle Creek Capital LLC ("Castle Creek") and joined the firm in 2009. Mr. Scavuzzo currently serves on the boards of directors of Guaranty Federal Bancshares, Inc. (Nasdaq: GFED) and Texas Community Bancshares (Nasdaq: TCBS). Mr. Scavuzzo also currently serves on the boards of directors of the following private banking institutions: First Bancshares of Texas, Inc., McGregor Bancshares and Lincoln Bancshares Inc. Mr. Scavuzzo previously served on the boards of directors of other public and privately-owned financial and banking institutions. He served as a member of the board of directors of Trinity Capital Corp (OTC: TRIN) until it was acquired by the Company in March 2019 and the

boards of directors of MBT Financial Corp. (previously Nasdaq: MBFT) and SouthCrest Financial Group, Inc. (OTC Pink: SGSC). Castle Creek beneficially owns 756,426 shares of the Company's common stock as of the Record Date. Prior to joining Castle Creek, Mr. Scavuzzo worked in an operating role for the Chief Executive Officer at MBT Financial Bank where he was responsible for evaluation of merger and acquisition opportunities and capital investment strategy. Mr. Scavuzzo was formerly Treasurer and a member of the board of directors for the CFA Society of San Diego and past Chairman of the Finance Committee for the CFA Society of Chicago. Mr. Scavuzzo holds a M.B.A. in Finance, Accounting and Entrepreneurship from the University of Chicago, Booth School of Business. Mr. Scavuzzo brings his many years of extensive experience with multiple financial institutions to the Board.

Eloise E. Schmitz has been the chief executive officer and co-founder since 2013 of LoanNEX in St. Louis, a residential mortgage SaaS platform serving mortgage originators and investors. She is also owner and partner of Adreon Investments, an investment partnership in independent restaurants in St. Louis. Previously, Ms. Schmitz was executive vice president and chief financial officer of Charter Communications, Inc. (Nasdaq: CHTR). She also has extensive corporate banking experience, having served at the former Mercantile Bank in St. Louis (now US Bank) and the former First Union National Bank in Charlotte, NC (now Wells Fargo). Ms. Schmitz has previously served on several non-public boards including the Board of Trustees for Villa Duchesne Oak Hill in St. Louis, the Advisory Board to Palace Capital Management, LLC, the H. Sophie Newcomb College Institute Director Advisory Council, and the Advisory Board of Women in Cable Television. Ms. Schmitz is a graduate of Tulane University. Ms. Schmitz' experience in corporate banking and financial analysis makes her a valuable member of our Board and its committees.

Sandra A. Van Trease served as the Group President of BJC HealthCare, a \$6 billion clinically integrated not-for-profit operator of hospitals and ambulatory care services, the largest healthcare institution in the St. Louis area, from 2004 through July 2020. Ms. Van Trease was President and Chief Executive Officer at UNICARE, an operating unit of Well Point Inc., a health insurance company, from 2002 through 2004. As an executive of RightChoice (NYSE: RIT) a health insurance company, from 1994 to 2002, she served as its President, Chief Financial Officer and Chief Operating Officer from 2000 through 2002. Ms. Van Trease previously served on the board of directors of Peabody Energy (NYSE: BTU) where she also served as a chair of their audit committee and chair of the Health, Safety, Security and Environmental Committee. Ms. Van Trease serves as a director for the University of Health Sciences and Pharmacy (formerly known as the St. Louis College of Pharmacy), and previously served as a director for Vizient Mid-America and the National Association of ACO's, in additional to several community organizations. Ms. Van Trease has a MBA and is a non-practicing Certified Public Accountant and Certified Management Accountant. Ms. Van Trease's executive management and experience at these institutions together with her service on other publicly-traded company boards and strong community service make her a valued adviser and highly qualified to serve on our Board and its committees.

## Recommendation of the Board of Directors

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS UNANIMOUSLY RECOMMENDS A VOTE <u>FOR</u> EACH OF THE NOMINEES LISTED ABOVE FOR ELECTION AS DIRECTORS OF THE COMPANY.

#### BOARD AND COMMITTEE INFORMATION

The Board has determined that having an independent director serve as Chairperson of the Board is in the best interest of shareholders at this time. The structure ensures a greater role for the independent directors in the oversight of the Company and active participation of the independent directors in setting agendas and establishing priorities and procedures for the work of the Board. Director Eulich is the current Chairperson of the Board and has held that position since May 2016.

The Board is actively involved in oversight of risks that could affect the Company. This oversight is conducted primarily through committees of the Board, as disclosed in the descriptions of each of the committees below and in the charters of each of the committees, but the full Board has retained responsibility for general oversight of risks. The Board satisfies this responsibility through reports by each committee chair regarding the committee's considerations and actions, as well as through regular reports directly from officers responsible for oversight of particular risks within the Company.

All committee members are appointed by the Board on recommendation of the Nominating and Governance Committee. In addition, the Board has established membership standards for each committee which requires that a certain number of committee members must be "independent directors," as that term is defined in Rule 5605(a)(2) of the Nasdaq rules.

The Board met nine times in 2021. All directors attended at least 75% of all meetings of the full Board and of those committees on which they served in 2021. The Company's Board periodically held executive sessions of the members of the Board who met the then current standards of independence. Executive sessions of the Board were presided over by the Chairperson of the Board.

While there is no formal policy concerning director attendance at the annual meeting, all members of the Board are encouraged to attend if reasonably able to do so. Eleven out of twelve of the then serving members of the Board attended the 2021 Annual Meeting of Shareholders.

## DIVERSITY

The Company and the Board strongly believe diversity is critical to the Company's success and creating long-term value for our shareholders. We believe that a board consisting of individual directors with diverse backgrounds ensures broader representation and inspires deeper commitment to management, employees and the communities we serve. While not specific to a particular policy, the Company's Board prioritizes diversity in gender, ethnic background, and professional experience when considering candidates for director as part of its commitment to diversity. At present, 33% of our Board is diverse from a female or underrepresented minorities perspective based on self identification. In addition, the Company is committed to a culture of inclusiveness, equality and diversity at all levels of the Company's workforce, offering a supportive and understanding environment designed to assist all individuals in realizing their maximum potential, regardless of their differences. Our goal is to ensure that, in carrying out our activities, we promote equality of opportunity and good relations between people of diverse backgrounds, and avoid unlawful discrimination. As of December 31, 2021, approximately 29% of our executive officers, and approximately 56% of our leadership team were diverse from a female or underrepresented minorities perspective based on self identification.

#### DIRECTOR COMPENSATION

The following table sets forth compensation paid to each of the Company's non-employee directors during 2021.

Name	Fees Earned or Paid in Cash (a)	Stock Awards (b)	All Other Compensation (c)	Total Annual Compensation	
Michael A. DeCola	\$ 69	\$ 103,181	\$	\$ 103,250	
James F. Deutsch <sup>(d)</sup>	_	_	<del>-</del>	_	
John S. Eulich	25	144,975	16,000	161,000	
Robert E. Guest, Jr.	30	101,970	9,600	111,600	
James M. Havel	27	97,223	_	97,250	
Judith S. Heeter <sup>(e)</sup>	50,677	50,573	<del>-</del>	101,250	
Michael R. Holmes	10	98,240	_	98,250	
Peter H. Hui	33	81,967	_	82,000	
Nevada A. Kent, IV	48,042	47,958	_	96,000	
Stephen P. Marsh <sup>(f)</sup>	_	_	77,400	77,400	
Daniel A. Rodrigues	_	_	22,800	22,800	
Richard M. Sanborn	56,430	56,320	_	112,750	
Anthony R. Scavuzzo	91,500	_	_	91,500	
Eloise E. Schmitz	47,164	47,086	_	94,250	
Sandra A. Van Trease	69	107,181	_	107,250	

<sup>(</sup>a) Includes fractional shares paid in cash.

In 2021, non-employee directors received a \$75,000 annual retainer, except for Mr. Eulich who received a \$145,000 retainer for his service as chairperson of the Board and Executive Committee. Annual retainers are paid in July of each year for the upcoming 12-month period. Additionally, members receive \$1,250 per board meeting attended. For committee service, the Chairpersons received an additional retainer as follows: Audit Committee - \$14,000, Compensation Committee - \$10,000, Risk Committee - \$10,000 and Nominating and Governance Committee - \$10,000. Non-Chairperson committee members receive \$1,000 per committee meeting attended.

Generally, non-employee directors receive 50% of their retainer or meeting fees in shares of EFSC common stock unless a non-employee director elects to receive 100% of such director's retainer and meeting fees in shares. Any election to receive 100% of the retainer and meeting fees in shares will remain in effect until revoked by the non-employee director. The number of shares received by the non-employee director depends on the fair market value of the Company's common stock on the date of grant. Shares are granted on the date that the cash retainer or meeting fees would otherwise have been paid. Shares are fully vested upon grant.

The Company has entered into a Corporate Governance Agreement with Castle Creek, and its officer serving as a Company director, Anthony R. Scavuzzo. Pursuant to the Corporate Governance Agreement, the Company will pay all director compensation, committee fees, expenses and benefits in cash to Castle Creek, or the entity's designated affiliates, and not to Mr. Scavuzzo individually. For additional information on the Corporate Governance Agreement, see "Related Person Transactions." There are no other agreements or arrangements between any director or nominee for director and any person or entity other than the Company relating to compensation or other payments in connection with a director or nominee's candidacy or service.

<sup>(</sup>b) The amounts shown in this column represent the grant date fair value, computed in accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board Codification Topic 718, Compensation-Stock Compensation ("ASC 718"). For more information, please refer to Note 16 – Shareholders' Equity and Compensation Plans included in the Company's 2021 Consolidated Financial Statements on Form 10-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on February 25, 2022.

<sup>(</sup>c) Includes attendance fees and retainers for service on the Bank's board of directors and for representing EFSC's Board on other committees and advisory boards. Includes grant date fair value of stock, as described in footnote (b), of \$15,955 for Mr. Eulich and \$21,966 for Mr. Rodrigues.

<sup>(</sup>d) Mr. Deutsch resigned from the Board effective with the 2021 Annual Meeting.

<sup>(</sup>e) As announced on March 8, 2022, Ms. Heeter is retiring from the Board and will not stand for re-election at the 2022 Annual Meeting.

<sup>(</sup>f) Includes fees earned by Mr. Marsh during 2021 for consulting services provided to Enterprise Bank & Trust by Mr. Marsh under an agreement that ended on December 31, 2021.

## **EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE**

The Executive Committee is empowered to act on behalf of, and to exercise the powers of, the full Board in the management of the business and affairs of the Company when the full Board is not in session, except to the extent limited by applicable Delaware law. The charter for the Executive Committee may be found in the investor relations section of the Company's website at www.enterprisebank.com. All actions by the Executive Committee are reported at the next regular Board meeting. The Executive Committee met once in 2021.

All members of the Executive Committee meet the Nasdaq independence standards. In 2021, Directors Eulich (Committee Chairperson), DeCola, Guest, Heeter, and Van Trease served on the Committee for the full year.

#### AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee oversees the Company's financial reporting process on behalf of the Board by reviewing all audit processes and fees, the financial information provided to the shareholders and the Company's systems of internal financial controls. The Audit Committee has the authority and responsibility to select and evaluate and, where appropriate, replace the Company's independent registered public accounting firm.

The Audit Committee is responsible for oversight of Company risks relating to accounting matters, financial reporting, legal and regulatory compliance and the Company's anonymous "whistleblower" reporting system. To satisfy these oversight responsibilities, the committee separately meets regularly with the Company's Chief Financial Officer, its Chief Risk Officer, its Director of Internal Audit, the Company's independent registered public accounting firm, and management. The Audit Committee Chairperson periodically meets between formal committee meetings with the Company's Chief Financial Officer, its Chief Risk Officer, its Director of Internal Audit, and the Company's independent registered public accounting firm. The Committee also receives regular reports regarding issues such as the status and findings of audits being conducted by the internal auditors and the independent registered public accounting firm, the status of material litigation, accounting changes that could affect the Company's financial statements and proposed audit adjustments.

All members of the Audit Committee meet the Nasdaq independence standards and meet the additional requirements applicable to Audit Committee members. In 2021, the Audit Committee consisted of Directors Van Trease (Committee Chairperson), Havel, Kent, and Schmitz for the full year. Director James F. Deutsch (from January through the annual meeting in April) served on the Committee for a portion of the year. The Audit Committee met five times in 2021.

The Board has determined that all of the audit committee members satisfy the requirements of an "audit committee financial expert" as defined in Item 407(d) (5) of Regulation S-K and satisfy the definition of "financially sophisticated" under Nasdaq Rule 5605(c).

The Company's Board has determined that none of the Directors on the Audit Committee have a relationship with the Company or the Bank that would interfere with the exercise of independent judgment in carrying out their responsibilities as director. None of them is, nor have they been for the past three years, an employee of the Company or the Bank, and none of their immediate family members is, nor have they been for the past three years, an executive officer of the Company or the Bank.

As noted in the Audit Committee's charter, which is available in the investor relations section of the Company's website at www.enterprisebank.com, the Company's management is responsible for preparing the Company's financial statements. The Company's independent registered public accounting firm is responsible for auditing the financial statements. The activities of the Audit Committee are in no way designed to supersede or alter those traditional responsibilities. The Audit Committee's role does not provide any special assurances with regard to the Company's financial statements, nor does it involve a professional evaluation of quality of audits performed by the independent registered public accounting firm. The Audit Committee reassesses the adequacy of the charter on an annual basis.

The Audit Committee has considered whether the provision by the Company's independent registered public accounting firm of the services covered by the audit fees is compatible with maintaining its independence and has concluded that it is compatible. The Audit Committee is responsible for pre-approving all auditing services and permitted non-auditing services to be performed by the Company's independent registered public accounting firm. The Chairperson of the Audit Committee has authority to approve in advance all audit or non-audit services to be performed by the independent registered public accounting firm, but must report any such approval to the full Audit Committee at the next regularly scheduled meeting.

The Report of the Audit Committee appears on page 39 of this Proxy Statement.

## NOMINATING AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

The Nominating and Governance Committee assists the Board in identifying and recommending qualified director nominees for election at the 2022 Annual Meeting. The charter for the Nominating and Governance Committee may be found in the investor relations section of the Company's website at www.enterprisebank.com. The committee recommends membership on Board committees, reviews and assesses the Company's governance guidelines, policies and practices, and oversees an annual Board self-evaluation.

All members of the Nominating and Governance Committee meet the Nasdaq independence standards. In 2021, the Nominating and Governance Committee consisted of Directors Heeter (Committee Chairperson), DeCola, Guest, Havel, and Holmes for the full year. The committee met six times in 2021.

The Nominating and Governance Committee may consider candidates for Board membership coming to its attention through current Board members, search firms, shareholders and other persons. Suggestions for nominees from shareholders are evaluated in the same manner as other nominees. Any shareholder nomination must be submitted in writing to the Company's Corporate Secretary at: Enterprise Financial Services Corp, 150 North Meramec Ave., Clayton, Missouri 63105, and should include the shareholder's name, address and the number of the Company's shares owned by the shareholder, along with the nominee's name and qualifications in accordance with the procedures set forth in our By-Laws. No shareholder nominations for director were received for the 2022 Annual Meeting.

The Nominating and Governance Committee has the flexibility to consider various factors it deems appropriate in identifying and evaluating potential candidates for director nominees as there is no strict set of qualifications that must be satisfied before a candidate may be considered. These factors may include education, diversity, experience with business and other organizations comparable with EFSC, the interplay of the candidate's experience with that of other members of the Board, and the extent to which the candidate would be a desirable addition to the Board and to any of the committees of the Board. The Nominating and Governance Committee will evaluate nominees for directors submitted by shareholders in the same manner in which it evaluates other director nominees.

Shareholders may communicate directly to the Board, including individual directors and our presiding Chairperson, by sending a letter to the Board at the following address: Enterprise Financial Services Corp Board of Directors, 150 North Meramec Ave., Clayton, Missouri 63105. All communications directed to the Board will be received and processed by the Company's Corporate Secretary and will be transmitted to the Chairperson of the Nominating and Governance Committee without any editing or screening.

## **COMPENSATION COMMITTEE**

In 2021, the Compensation Committee consisted of Directors DeCola (Committee Chairperson), Eulich, Holmes, Kent, Scavuzzo, and Van Trease for the full year. Director Hui was appointed to serve on the Committee in August 2021. The Compensation Committee met six times in 2021. The Compensation Committee is comprised solely of non-employee directors, all of whom the Board has determined are independent pursuant to the Nasdaq rules. The responsibilities of the Compensation Committee are set forth in its charter, which is available in the investor relations section of the Company's website at www.enterprisebank.com, and includes the responsibility for establishing, implementing and continually monitoring compliance with the Company's compensation philosophy. Members of the Compensation Committee are outside directors within the meaning of Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 (the "Code"). During 2021, no member was an executive officer of another entity on whose compensation committee or board of directors an executive officer of the Company served.

The Compensation Committee is responsible for risks relating to employment policies and the Company's compensation and benefits program. To assist it in satisfying these oversight responsibilities, the Compensation Committee has retained its own compensation consultant and meets regularly with management and with outside counsel to understand the financial, human resources and shareholder implications of compensation decisions being made. For additional information regarding our engagement of a compensation consultant, see "Executive Compensation - Overview of the Compensation Process." The Compensation Committee is also responsible to further the advancement of the Company's goals related to environmental, health and safety, corporate social responsibility, sustainability and other public policy matters (collectively, "ESG") (as they continue to evolve) through the Company's compensation arrangements, policies and decisions, to the extent the Compensation Committee deems necessary to do so.

The Compensation Committee Report appears on page 25 of this Proxy Statement.

## RISK COMMITTEE

The Risk Committee assists the Board in carrying out its responsibilities with respect to the comprehensive oversight of the types and levels of risk being incurred by the organization, and the effectiveness of the methods used to identify, monitor, manage, and report those risks. The charter for the Risk Committee may be found in the investor relations section of the Company's website at www.enterprisebank.com.

The responsibilities of the Risk Committee are to review the Company's Risk Appetite Statement and Risk Tolerances, evaluate the Company's risk priorities, and to monitor and evaluate the Company's risk profile as determined by management. Additionally, the Risk Committee is responsible for the evaluation and oversight of the implementation of the Company's strategy on ESG. For additional information, see "Environmental, Social and Governance." Also, the Risk Committee oversees the composition and activities of the Bank's Risk Oversight Committee.

In 2021, the Risk Committee consisted of Directors Guest (Committee Chairperson), Heeter, Sanborn, Scavuzzo and Schmitz for the full year. Director Deutsch (from January through the annual meeting in April) served on the Committee for a portion of the year, and Director Hui was appointed to serve on the Committee in August 2021. In addition, certain directors of the Company's Bank subsidiary served as advisory members of the Committee pursuant to its Charter. The Committee met four times in 2021. Directors Guest, Sanborn and Scavuzzo, in particular, have extensive experience in identifying, assessing and/or managing enterprise risk.

#### CORPORATE CODE OF ETHICS

The Company has implemented a Code of Ethics applicable to our directors, Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer, other senior management, and to all of our employees. Our Code of Ethics provides fundamental ethical principles to which these individuals are expected to adhere. Our Code of Ethics operates as a tool to help our directors and employees understand and adhere to these high ethical standards required for employment by, or association with, the Company and the Bank. Our Code of Ethics is available on our website at www.enterprisebank.com under the investor relations section. Our shareholders may also obtain written copies at no cost by writing to us at the address: Enterprise Financial Services Corp, 150 North Meramec Ave., Clayton, Missouri 63105. Any future changes or amendment to our Code of Ethics and any waiver that applies to one of our senior financial officers or a member of our Board will be posted on our website.

## ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE

We are increasingly focused on key ESG risks and on providing transparency around our ESG efforts. The Risk Committee oversees our ESG risk management efforts. In March 2022, we issued our annual ESG Report. For more information on our focus and enhancement of our ESG efforts, please visit the Corporate Responsibility page on our company website at www.enterprisebank.com.<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Information contained in our ESG Report shall not be deemed filed for the purposes of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or deemed incorporated by reference in this filing.

## **EXECUTIVE OFFICERS**

# EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT

The executive officers of the Company, as of March 9, 2022, are as follows:

Name	Age	Principal Business Experience
James B. Lally	54	Chief Executive Officer of Enterprise Financial Services Corp since May 2017. President of Enterprise Financial Services Corp since August 2016, Executive Vice President and Director of Fee Businesses from May 2016 through August 2016, President of Commercial Banking of Enterprise Bank & Trust from 2014 through May 2016, President of the St. Louis Region of Enterprise Bank & Trust from 2011 through 2014.
Keene S. Turner	42	Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of Enterprise Financial Services Corp since October 2013. Chief Financial Officer of Enterprise Bank & Trust from 2013 through 2016 and since February 2019. Executive Vice President and Chief Accounting Officer of National Penn Bancshares, Inc. from February 2010 through October 2013.
Scott R. Goodman	58	Executive Vice President of Enterprise Financial Services Corp and President of Enterprise Bank & Trust since April 2013. Executive Vice President and Director of Commercial Banking & Wealth Management of Enterprise Bank & Trust from May 2012 through April 2013.
Douglas N. Bauche	52	Chief Credit Officer of Enterprise Bank & Trust since May 2016. President of the St. Louis Region of Enterprise Bank & Trust from March 2014 through April 2016 and from December 2018 through January 2020. President of the St. Charles Region of Enterprise Bank & Trust from March 2000 through March 2014.
Nicole M. Iannacone	42	Executive Vice President, Chief Risk Officer, Assistant Corporate Secretary and General Counsel of Enterprise Bank & Trust since December 2018. Corporate Secretary of Enterprise Financial Services Corp since January 2018. Senior Vice President and General Counsel of Enterprise Bank & Trust from 2015 to 2018. Vice President and General Counsel of Enterprise Bank & Trust from 2015. Attorney at Jenkins & Kling, P.C. from 2005 to 2014.
Mark G. Ponder	51	Executive Vice President and Chief Administrative Officer of Enterprise Bank & Trust since December 2018. Senior Vice President and Controller of Enterprise Financial Services Corp from March 2012 to March 2019. Chief Financial Officer of Enterprise Bank & Trust from August 2016 to February 2019.

## **EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION**

#### COMPENSATION DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

In this section the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors (the "Committee") provides information regarding our compensation programs for our named executive officers ("Named Executive Officers" or "NEOs") for 2021, including our overall philosophy, components of compensation that we provide, and the objectives and intended incentives of our programs. Our Named Executive Officers for 2021 were as follows:

Name	Title
James B. Lally	President and Chief Executive Officer
Keene S. Turner	Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
Scott R. Goodman	President, Enterprise Bank & Trust
Douglas N. Bauche	Chief Credit Officer, Enterprise Bank & Trust
Nicole M. Iannacone	Executive Vice President, Chief Risk Officer; General Counsel, Enterprise Bank & Trust; and EFSC Corporate Secretary

<u>Principles.</u> Our compensation philosophy is to provide competitive compensation that rewards executives for performance and management of risk. We develop and administer compensation programs consistent with the following principles:

- Compensation will include a substantial performance-based component which is:
  - based on clearly defined goals;
  - · aligned with measurable business results, appropriate risk management and increase in shareholder value; and
  - linked to successful implementation of our business plan.
- Compensation is designed to attract, motivate and retain top talent.
- Compensation will be fair and market competitive.

## Executive Compensation at a Glance.

## 2021 Say on Pay Vote Results: 97% approval of compensation program

Pay "At Risk": 71% of CEO's total compensation was variable; average of 60% variable compensation for all other NEOs

## 2021 Short-Term Incentive Plan ("STIP") Payments:

- STIP payments were paid at 145% of target
- CEO STIP target opportunity increased from 60% of base salary to 70% to better align with market and in recognition of strong performance

## Long-Term Incentive Plan ("LTIP") for NEOs:

- 15% time-based restricted stock units ("RSUs")
- 25% non-qualified stock options
- 60% performance-based RSUs
- Updated the LTIP performance goals to replace adjusted earnings per share with a Pre-tax, Pre-Provision, Net Revenue ("PPNR") metric
- Target opportunity for each NEO was increased to better align with market

	What we do:		What we don't do:
✓	Align short and long-term incentive plan targets with business goals and shareholder interests	✓	Provide Section 280G gross-up payments
✓	Conduct annual say on pay advisory vote	✓	Reward executives for taking excessive, inappropriate or unnecessary risk
$\checkmark$	Conduct shareholder outreach	✓	Allow repricing or backdating of equity awards
✓	Retain an independent compensation consultant to advise our Compensation Committee	✓	Spring-load equity awards
✓	Use performance metrics that compare our performance to external benchmarks	✓	Provide multi-year guaranteed salary increases or guaranteed bonuses
✓	Maintain insider trading policy	✓	Rely exclusively on shareholder return as our only performance metric
✓	Maintain clawback policy that applies to NEOs and other executives	✓	Award incentives for below-threshold performance
✓	Maintain a stock ownership policy for executive officers	✓	Pay dividends on unearned or unvested equity awards
✓	Reevaluate and update the composition of our peer group regularly	✓	Permit hedging and pledging (unless preapproved) of our stock by executives
✓	Limit vesting of performance-based RSUs in the event the results of a TSR performance metric are negative	✓	Have single trigger vesting on our equity-based compensation awards

<u>Fiscal Year 2021</u>. The COVID-19 pandemic that was declared in January 2020, continued throughout 2021. Interest rates have remained low ever since the Federal Reserve reduced the target federal funds rate to a range of 0-25 basis points in March 2020. Low interest rates, significant government stimulus and a high savings rate have increased deposit balances and liquidity in the banking industry. The influx of this liquidity has caused a shift in the mix of earning assets to lower yielding asset categories, resulting in a decrease in the net interest margin for both the Company and the banking industry. Pent up demand from shut-downs in the economy and supply-chain disruptions, coupled with fiscal and monetary actions, has resulted in high inflation.

Despite the challenges presented during the year, the Company had strong financial performance in 2021, including:

- Record operating revenue (net interest income and noninterest income) of \$428 million.
- Increased tangible book value per share by 11% to \$28.28.
- Achieved a PPNR return on average assets<sup>2</sup> of 1.8%.
- Achieved an adjusted return on average tangible common equity<sup>2</sup> of 18.3%
- Maintained strong asset quality, with a ratio of nonperforming assets to total assets of 0.23% and a ratio of net charge-offs to average loans of 0.14%.
- Announced and closed the acquisition of First Choice Bancorp ("First Choice") a \$2.3 billion asset bank.
- Continued assisting new and existing customers in accessing Paycheck Protection Program ("PPP") loans.
- Common shareholder dividends increased 4% in 2021, the seventh consecutive year dividends have been increased.

The STIP payouts were 145% of the target opportunity for the Named Executive Officers. The LTIP performance cycle ending in 2021 resulted in a payout equal to 59% of target shares. The payout for the 3 year LTIP cycle ending in 2021 was muted, in part, by no payout on the relative TSR portion of the award, as well as the change in market interest rates impacting the Company's net interest income relative to expectation at the beginning of the cycle. Overall, we believe our compensation program has been designed and implemented consistent with our principles and that our executives realized compensation has been aligned with the Company's performance.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>A non-GAAP measure. Refer to discussion and reconciliation of this measure in Appendix C.

Further, just as our business is adapting for future success, so too is our compensation program continually reviewed and will be adapted as needed to support progress towards achievement of goals.

Shareholder Engagement. Our shareholders have consistently approved our executive compensation program by high margins in every shareholder advisory vote on executive compensation that we have conducted. Last year, shareholders approved our executive compensation program with 97% of voted ballots cast in favor of our program. These votes are advisory and not binding upon the Committee, however the Committee takes the outcome of the votes into consideration in making executive compensation decisions.

The Company maintains an active dialogue with many of its institutional shareholders. In this process, the Company discusses matters ranging from financial results, executive compensation, and corporate governance. This dialogue assists the Company in developing its approach to future compensation as well as addressing certain aspects within its annual ESG report.

Allocation of Compensation Components in 2021. Below is a summary of the allocation of compensation for our Named Executive Officers in 2021.

Name	Base Salary (1)	Bonus (2)	Short-term Annual Incentive Compensation (3)	Long-term Incentive Compensation (4)	NEO Perquisites (5)	Total
James B. Lally	28%	<u>_%</u>	29%	42%	1%	100%
Keene S. Turner	32%	7%	23%	35%	3%	100%
Scott R. Goodman	37%	3%	24%	33%	3%	100%
Douglas N. Bauche	39%	2%	23%	31%	5%	100%
Nicole M. Iannacone	38%	6%	23%	31%	2%	100%

- (1) Base salary percentages reflect amounts disclosed in the "Summary Compensation Table" for Named Executive Officers. For more information, see the discussion under the heading "Base Salaries" below.
- (2) For Messrs. Turner, Goodman and Bauche and Ms. Iannacone, \$100,000, \$30,000, \$20,000 and \$55,000, respectively, represent payments for the NEOs' role in connection with the First Choice acquisition.
- (3) For more information, see the heading "Short-Term Incentive Plan" below.
- (4) For more information, see the heading "Long-Term Incentive Plan" below.
- (5) NEO perquisites percentages are based on the amounts disclosed as "All Other Compensation" in the "Summary Compensation Table" for Named Executive Officers. For more information, see the discussion under the heading "Named Executive Officer Perquisites" below.

## Overview of the Compensation Process

The Committee administers the Company's executive compensation programs under the authority of its charter approved by the Board. The Committee has responsibility for establishing, implementing and monitoring compliance with the Company's compensation philosophy.

The Committee has overall responsibility relating to compensation for the officers and other employees of the company. Other than with respect to Named Executive Officers and other executive officers, the Committee delegates certain of those functions to management. In the case of Named Executive Officers and other executive officers, the Committee establishes and reviews base salaries, short-term incentives, and long-term incentives, including measurement metrics and goals. With respect to executives below this level, the Committee reviews management's recommendations with respect to these matters. In the case of our non-executive employees, the Committee reviews, approves, and monitors overall compensation practices. The Committee retains oversight over compensation programs that are delegated to management, including evaluating compensation structure and practices to determine that they do not encourage inappropriate risk to the Company.

<u>Performance Reviews.</u> The Executive Committee is responsible for overseeing and delivering the annual performance review of the Chief Executive Officer. This review is based on the financial performance of the Company, the change in shareholder value, growth in the human capital of the organization, effective succession planning, leading the organization's culture, the Company's overall management of risk, and development and execution of our strategy. The Executive Committee meets and

reviews the overall assessment of the Chief Executive Officer without the Chief Executive Officer being present. The Executive Committee reports the Chief Executive Officer's rating to the Compensation Committee.

Our Chief Executive Officer conducts and approves performance evaluations for the other Named Executive Officers and shares the evaluations with Compensation Committee. A Compensation Committee member presents the Committee's decisions for compensation of each Named Executive Officer to the full Board.

Compensation Consultant. The Committee has the authority to directly engage the services of a Compensation consultant or other advisors. Willis Towers Watson ("WTW") was retained by the Committee to serve as the Company's independent compensation consultant for 2021. In connection with the 2021 retention, the Committee assessed WTW's independence, considering the factors set forth in Nasdaq Rule 5605(d)(3) regarding compensation advisor independence, consistent with the Committee's Charter. The Committee did not find any conflict of interest with respect to WTW in 2021.

WTW's work for the Committee in 2021 included: (i) presentation of market competitive data for purposes of the Committee's analysis of the Company's compensation for executive officers; (ii) providing business and technical advice on executive compensation matters, including short-term and long-term incentive compensation; (iii) pay for performance analysis; (iv) review of the Committee's executive compensation philosophy; (v) a market assessment of both the amount and composition of non-employee board compensation; and (vi) an assessment of the Company's peer group used for compensation purposes.

<u>Comparisons to Peer Group.</u> The Committee uses competitive data to compare its compensation levels to a group of peer companies with respect to the following elements of compensation for Named Executive Officers:

- Base salary;
- Short-term annual incentives;
- · Equity compensation elements such as performance contingent grants of stock; and
- Other elements that to date have been reported publicly under SEC rules.

The Committee selects the peer group with the advice of the Company's compensation consultant and input from management.

The peer group companies were selected to reflect financial institutions of comparable asset size to the Company with operations that are comparable to the Company's lines of business. The Committee believes that these component companies represent institutions that compete for the Company's talent pool. The Committee does not set rigid benchmarks for compensation of Named Executive Officers. The Committee's objective is to offer total target compensation for Named Executive Officers that is competitive with the Company's peers considering the relative performance of the executive and the Company. The Committee evaluates the competitiveness of the Company's executive compensation by comparisons to the peer group to be competitive and enhance retention.

In 2021, our peer group consisted of the following companies:

1st Source Corporation	Midland States Bancorp, Inc.
BancFirst Corporation	MidWest One Financial Group, Inc.
Eagle Bancorp, Inc.	National Bank Holdings Corporation
Financial Institutions, Inc.	Park National Corporation
First Busey Corporation	QCR Holdings, Inc.
First Financial Bankshares, Inc.	Renasant Corporation
First Merchants Corporation	Republic Bancorp, Inc.
Great Southern Bancorp, Inc.	ServisFirst Bancshares, Inc.
Heartland Financial USA, Inc.	Southside Bancshares, Inc.
Independent Bank Group, Inc.	The First of Long Island Corporation
Lakeland Financial Corporation	Tompkins Financial Corporation

In connection with the acquisition of First Choice, the Company revisited the composition of the peer group to ensure that it reflected the growth of the Company. With the assistance of the compensation consultant, the Company has reviewed and selected a new peer group to be used for benchmarking purposes in 2022. The peer group includes 22 banks with asset sizes ranging from \$7-20 billion.

<u>Setting Compensation.</u> The Committee considers the results of performance evaluations, peer group comparisons, and a review of the Company's goals and objectives. Based on this review, the Committee approves, and reports to the Board its decisions regarding the base salary, STIP targets and LTIP awards for our Named Executive Officers for the current year, as well as short-term incentive compensation earned for the prior year.

## **Compensation Components**

Our executive compensation consists primarily of these three components:

- Base salary:
- · Short-term annual incentive awards; and
- Long-term equity incentive compensation.

As is customary in our industry, we also provide modest levels of perquisites, described later, to our Named Executive Officers and participation in other benefit programs that are generally available to the general associate population (e.g., health care, disability, life insurance, an employee stock purchase plan and a defined contribution plan). The "Summary Compensation Table" on page 29 provides additional information on these perquisites and benefits.

The Committee maintains a flexible policy for the allocation of compensation components. Allocations of compensation among the various components are intended to align compensation with achievement of short- and long-term performance goals and appropriate risk management while remaining competitive in comparison to the Company's peer group.

Base Salaries. Base salaries recognize and compensate for competencies, experience, and knowledge that we believe our Named Executive Officers must possess. The Committee also considers external market data to assess the competitiveness of our base salary levels.

The Committee has evaluated the NEOs' total compensation and has implemented additional base salary and incentive target increases for 2021. The increases are based on: the Company's financial and operating performance; an increase in the depth and breadth of the Company's operations in recent years; peer group changes consistent with the increase of the Company's size; market and competitive forces; and the NEOs' leadership example.

Based on these factors, in 2021, the Committee approved increases in base salaries for the Company's Named Executive Officers as follows:

Named Executive Officer	Base Salary Increase
James B. Lally	11%
Keene S. Turner	7%
Scott R. Goodman	7%
Douglas N. Bauche	8%
Nicole M. Iannacone	7%

The increases align the NEO's base compensation to a targeted band of total cash compensation similar to peers, when also considering STIP compensation.

Short-Term Incentive Plan. Our STIP is designed to align compensation with an executive's performance in a given year. The program sets a threshold, target and exceptional level of short-term incentive awards that an NEO is eligible to earn. In the first quarter of each year, our CEO, with the input of other members of management where appropriate, present proposed performance metrics and goals to the Committee for review and approval. The relative importance of each goal in comparison to all goals is determined, and the resulting weightings determines potential incentive payments for each goal. The Committee also references external market data to determine appropriate target levels of payments.

The NEO's 2021 target STIP opportunity was as follows:

Named Executive Officer	STIP Target as a % of Base Salary
James B. Lally	70%
Keene S. Turner	50%
Scott R. Goodman	45%
Douglas N. Bauche	40%
Nicole M. Iannacone	40%

For performance below threshold level of any goal, there is no payment with respect to that goal. Payout for performance between the threshold, target and exceptional levels is determined using straight-line interpolation. The program provides the Committee discretion to make awards above the exceptional level amount if actual performance exceeds exceptional level goals, subject to a maximum payment amount of 150% of target applied on a metric by metric basis. Payouts for 2021 performance were made in cash.

The Company's 2021 STIP utilized six metrics and goals, consistent with our strategic plan, that were applied across all NEOs and other members of senior management. The Committee believes the metrics and goals align NEOs and other members of senior management's incentives with the Company's shareholders and encourage superior performance in critical areas, such as efficient operations, profitability, prudent growth and effective risk management. The Committee determined to use PPNR as a profitability goal for the 2021 STIP, along with two Company asset quality measures; the ratio of net charge-offs to average loans and the ratio of nonperforming assets to total assets. During the uncertain credit loss environment and during a period of inconsistent timing of adoption of CECL in the banking industry, the Committee noted these measures utilized in 2021 are specifically focused on Company operating results inclusive of asset quality.

Following is a summary table of the STIP performance metrics and goals, and the actual results of the Company for 2021 as modified as described below the table.

(\$ in thousands, except per share data)	% Weight At Target	Threshold		Target	Target		Actual	
PPNR	30%	\$ 157,285	\$	174,318	\$	181,291	\$	188,068
Loan growth, excluding PPP	15%	\$ 195,789	\$	489,472	\$	698,820	\$	553,604
Return on average assets	15%	0.90 %		1.18 %		1.30 %		1.47 %
Ratio of nonperforming assets to total assets	10%	1.10 %		0.60 %		0.45 %		0.24 %
Ratio of net charge-offs to average loans	10%	0.75 %		0.50 %		0.25 %		0.16 %

For 2021, the Committee applied discretion in the determination of the STIP to normalize the results for certain items. These adjustments include the exclusion of:

- i. one-time merger-related impact associated with the First Choice transaction;
- ii. impairment charges on the closure of branches; and
- iii. charge-offs, assets, loans and nonperforming assets from the First Choice transaction.

The Committee also reduced PPNR by \$19.5 million from reported results to normalize the results from the addition of First Choice profitability. This adjustment was consistent with the PPNR per share implicit in the initial goals and the number of shares issued in the First Choice acquisition. The Committee believes that these adjustments were appropriate because they are both one-time and acquisition-related impacts that were unforeseeable at the time that the STIP goals were initially established. The Committee believes the STIP measurements most accurately reflect the operating results of the Company for 2021.

In addition to the above five Company-based metrics, 20% of each NEO's STIP award is based on his or her leadership rating. The "Leadership Rating" goal consists of a rating of between zero and four. The threshold level is a rating of two, the target level is a rating of three and the exceptional level is a rating of four. The Leadership Rating measures an NEO's subjective performance during the past fiscal year and is based on expectations set for the leader at the beginning of the fiscal year. The Committee evaluates the leadership for each NEO as part of the annual performance review process.

Based on the achievements listed on page 16, for 2021, the Leadership Rating achieved by each Named Executive Officer was as follows:

Named Executive Officer	Leadership Rating (0-4)
James B. Lally	4
Keene S. Turner	4
Scott R. Goodman	4
Douglas N. Bauche	4
Nicole M. Iannacone	4

The 2021 STIP payouts for each NEO are set forth below:

Name		Threshold			Target		Exceptional		Actual
James B. Lally	Award Value	\$	248,500	\$	497,000	\$	745,500	\$	719,644
Keene S. Turner	Award Value		113,750		227,500		341,250		329,415
Scott R. Goodman	Award Value		88,875		177,750		266,625		257,379
Douglas N. Bauche	Award Value		68,000		136,000		204,000		196,925
Nicole M. Iannacone	Award Value		65,000		130,000		195,000		188,237

The Committee also approved a separate discretionary incentive pool in recognition of the Company's exceptional performance in the acquisition of First Choice. Messrs. Turner, Goodman and Bauche and Ms. Iannacone were paid \$100,000, \$30,000, \$20,000 and \$55,000, respectively, under this pool.

Long-Term Incentive Plan. Our objectives for the LTIP for our Named Executive Officers include:

- aligning incentives with increases in shareholder value;
- attracting and retaining talented executives;
- encouraging appropriate long-term risk management practices; and
- providing a clear line of sight towards long-term success.

Consistent with these objectives, the Committee adjusted the NEO's LTIP opportunity in 2021 to increase the amount of performance-based compensation to total compensation. The NEO's 2021 target LTIP opportunity was as follows:

Named Executive Officer	LTIP Target as a % of Base Salary
James B. Lally	125%
Keene S. Turner	100%
Scott R. Goodman	80%
Douglas N. Bauche	70%
Nicole M. Iannacone	70%

The Committee also considers external market data to determine competitive dollar levels of long-term incentive compensation and an appropriate mix between base salary, annual incentive, and long-term incentives.

Grants under the LTIP include performance and time-based restricted stock units and non-qualified stock options. Performance based units vest upon achievement of performance goals during a three-year period. Time-based units and options vest in full at the end of the three-year period. The Committee believes that performance-based stock awards provide more competitive equity incentive compensation to executives in comparison to the Company's peers. In addition, granting performance-based awards with overlapping three-year performance periods incentivizes and rewards our executives for long-term Company success.

Each year management makes a recommendation to the Committee for grants to Named Executive Officers other than the CEO. The Committee reviews this proposal in light of the Committee's goals and philosophies for incentive compensation, the Company's strategy and long-term goals, and marketplace information, including market data provided by compensation consultants. The Committee makes the final determination of the amount and structure of grants to each Named Executive Officer.

## Long-Term Incentive Plan Awards for 2019-2021 Performance Period

Grants for the performance period provided for the possibility of awards at a threshold, target and exceptional level based on the Company's performance against two financial goals: (1) total shareholder return goals, and (2) cumulative earnings per diluted share ("EPS"). In addition, grants for Named Executive Officers have a weighting of 20% based on continued service through the end of the performance periods.

The performance goals and actual outcomes for the period are set forth below:

2019 - 2021 Performance Period							
Goal	Weight	Threshold	Target	Exceptional	Actual		
Total Shareholder Return	40%	40 <sup>th</sup> percentile	60 <sup>th</sup> percentile	80 <sup>th</sup> percentile	32nd percentile		
Cumulative EPS	40%	\$11.35 per share	\$12.46 per share	\$13.66 per share	\$12.67 per share		
Continued Service	20%	NA	NA	NA	NA		
	100%						

In determining actual performance against the cumulative EPS goal, the Company excluded effects from the application of CECL and merger-related impacts from the Company's acquisitions of First Choice and Seacoast. The Committee believes that these adjustments are appropriate for two reasons: (i) these adjustments create a better "apples to apples" comparison between the Company and our peer companies most of which did not consummate an acquisition in 2020 or 2021 and many of which chose to defer the adoption of CECL; and (ii) neither the effects of CECL nor these mergers were contemplated at the time that the original goals were set three years ago. The Company also excluded the impact of branch-impairment charges and expense related to the reorganization of the Company's debt and capital structure. The Company believes it is appropriate to adjust for these items as they were not contemplated in the original goals and the capital actions were proactive steps to enhance the capital position of the Company due to the uncertainty of the economic impact of the COVID-19 pandemic. The cumulative effect of these adjustments was an addition to reported EPS of \$2.51. These adjustments did not impact the Total Shareholder Return calculation.

For each goal, achieving threshold performance pays at 25% of target value and achieving exceptional performance pays at 200% of target value. For performance below threshold level of any goal, there is no payment with respect to that goal. Payout for performance falling between the threshold, target and exceptional levels is determined using straight-line interpolation. Based on the Company's actual performance during the 2019-2021 performance period, the Company awarded shares between the target and exceptional levels (118% of target) for the cumulative EPS goal. No award was made for the total shareholder return goal since actual results were below threshold. This resulted in awards at 59% of the aggregate target level. Our Named Executive Officers received the following respective awards under the LTIP, including time-based service awards, for the 2019-2021 performance period:

	20	019-2021 LTIP Award (# shares)	
Named Executive Officer	Performance Award	Service Award	Total
James B. Lally	3,614	1,531	5,145
Keene S. Turner	1,581	670	2,251
Scott R. Goodman	1,453	616	2,069
Douglas N. Bauche	1,068	453	1,521
Nicole M. Iannacone	922	391	1,313

The shares awarded were in the form of immediately vested common stock.

## Long-Term Incentive Open Grants for 2020-2022 and 2021-2023 Performance Periods

Long-Term Incentive Plan grants are open with respect to the 2020-2022 and 2021-2023 performance periods. Grants for Named Executive Officers are reflected in the Summary Compensation Table in the year of grant on page 29 and the Grants of Plan-Based Awards table on page 30. The LTIP grants relating to the 2020-2022 performance periods vest 40% based on total shareholder return goals, 40% based on pre-provision net revenue goals, and 20% based on continued service through the end of the performance period. The LTIP grants relating to the 2021-2023 performance periods vest 30% based on total shareholder return goals, 30% based on pre-provision net revenue goals, and 40% based on continued service through the end of the performance period. For the 2021-2023 cycle, the 40% based on continued service includes 25% in stock options and 15% in time-based restricted stock units. The Company reintroduced stock options in 2021 as part of its performance compensation structure for further alignment of NEO and shareholder interests.

For each performance-based goal, achieving threshold performance pays at 25% of target value and achieving exceptional performance pays at 200% of target value. For performance below threshold level of any goal, there is no payment with respect to that goal. Payout for performance falling between the threshold, target and exceptional levels is determined using straight-line interpolation. The open grants to Named Executive Officers under these LTIP grants will be paid in the form of immediately vested shares of common stock or stock options, as applicable.

<u>Named Executive Officer Perquisites.</u> We provide perquisites and other personal benefits to Named Executive Officers that we believe are reasonable and consistent with our overall compensation program. See the "All Other Compensation - Supplemental Table" on page 30 for more information on these items.

Retirement Plans. We expect executives to plan for and fund their own retirement through a defined contribution 401(k) plan that is generally available to most of the employees of the Company and a Deferred Compensation Plan that permits certain executives to defer a limited portion of salary and incentive payouts into any of several hypothetical investment alternatives. The Company has historically provided a Company match to the 401(k) plan. There are no Company contributions to the Deferred Compensation Plan. We do not maintain defined benefit retirement or supplemental executive retirement plans or provide for post-retirement benefits.

## Change in Control Severance Benefits

We have entered into employment agreements with certain of our Named Executive Officers granting them "double-trigger" change in control severance benefits (i.e., the benefit is triggered if the executive experiences a qualifying termination upon a change in control of the Company), as more fully described under the heading "Executive Employment Agreements" on page 26. The Committee believes these employment agreements providing double-trigger change in control severance benefits serve the best interests of the Company and its shareholders by ensuring that, in considering any proposed change in control, the Named Executive Officers would be able to advise the Board objectively about the transaction, without being unduly influenced by personal concerns such as the loss of employment following a change in control. These arrangements are also intended to promote stability and continuity of executive management. Information on applicable payments under such employment agreements for Named Executive Officers is contained under the heading "Executive Employment Agreements" on page 26 and "Potential Payments Upon Termination or Change in Control" on page 33.

## Sections 280G and 4999

Our Named Executive Officers are not entitled to any tax gross-up in the event they are subject to taxes under Sections 280G or 4999 of the Code, in connection with a change in control.

## Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code - Compensation Deductibility Limits

Code Section 162(m) generally limits the Company's ability to deduct compensation in excess of \$1 million to the Company's chief executive officer, chief financial officer, three other highest-compensated officers and any officer covered in a prior tax year. The Committee considers the availability of a tax-deduction on executive compensation as a relevant consideration when setting the NEO's overall compensation package, subject to the primary goals of attracting, retaining and rewarding the executive officers.

## Clawback Policy

The Company has voluntarily adopted a clawback policy permitting the Committee to recover incentive compensation paid to any executive officer (as defined under federal securities laws) based on materially inaccurate financial information or performance metrics. A copy of the clawback policy is available on the Company's website at www.enterprisebank.com.

#### Stock Ownership Guidelines

The Company's stock ownership guidelines provide that non-employee directors and different levels of executives are expected to own a specific amount of our common stock within the later of five years of adopting the program or five years after the date

the executive becomes a Named Executive Officer or director as applicable. Named Executive Officers and non-employee directors are expected to make continuing progress towards compliance with the guidelines during the five-year period. For purposes of determining whether an executive or non-employee director is in compliance, or making progress towards compliance, stock is valued at the greater of the value at the time of acquisition or current market value. The table below shows the guidelines for Named Executive Officers by executive level.

Title	Stock Ownership Goal
Chief Executive Officer / President	3.5 x Base Salary
All Other Named Executive Officers	2 x Base Salary
Chairman of the Board	Greater of 3 x Avg Director's Board Compensation or 3 x Annual Retainer
Non-Employee Directors	3 x Avg Director's Board Compensation

Under the Company's Insider Trading Policy, Directors and Officers are subject to pledging restrictions and are prohibited from engaging in hedging transactions related to Company stock, such as puts, calls, other derivative transactions, forward sale contracts, swaps, and other arrangements intended to hedge exposure to Company stock or provide protection against declines in the value of Company stock.

## **COMPENSATION COMMITTEE REPORT**

The Compensation Committee of the Board has reviewed and discussed with management the Compensation Discussion and Analysis required by Item 402(b) of Regulation S-K under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and, based on such review and discussion, the Compensation Committee recommended to the Board that the Compensation Discussion and Analysis be included in this Proxy Statement.

Respectfully submitted by the Compensation Committee,

Michael A. DeCola, Chairperson

John S. Eulich

Michael R. Holmes

Peter H. Hui

Nevada A. Kent, IV

Anthony R. Scavuzzo

Sandra A. Van Trease

## **EXECUTIVE EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENTS**

## Executive Employment Agreement with Mr. Lally

Effective May 2, 2017, the Company entered into an Executive Employment Agreement with Mr. Lally. The agreement provides for the following severance compensation upon Mr. Lally's termination for any reason: (i) earned but unpaid base salary through the termination date; (ii) bonus compensation to the extent earned in a prior year but not yet paid; (iii) accrued benefits under any Company plans; (iv) a lump sum payment in respect to accrued but unused vacation days; and (v) any unpaid expense or other reimbursement (the "Accrued Obligations"). In addition, the agreement provides for benefits if Mr. Lally's employment is terminated under certain circumstances. In the event the Company terminates Mr. Lally's employment without Cause or if he voluntarily terminates his employment upon the occurrence of certain events, without Mr. Lally's prior written consent, including, without limitation, (i) the Company's material breach of the agreement which remains uncured for a period of thirty (30) days following Mr. Lally's notice of such breach to the Company; (ii) a material reduction in Mr. Lally's base salary; (iii) a material diminution of Mr. Lally's authority, title, duties or responsibilities, including a failure to elect or reelect him to the Company Board; or (iv) the Company's requiring Mr. Lally to be relocated to any office or location more than twenty-five (25) miles from his place of employment at any time (including prior to or following a Change in Control, as defined in the agreement), Mr. Lally will receive (i) a lump sum equal to 24 months of base salary; (ii) a lump sum equal to 2 times the greater of (x) the average annual bonus paid over the previous 2 years or (y) the annual bonus for the year in which Mr. Lally's termination occurs as though all "target levels" of performance are fully achieved; (iii) continued medical benefits for 24 months at the same cost as Mr. Lally would be required to pay as an active employee; and (iv) the Accrued Obligations.

A "Change in Control" is defined as the first to occur of any of the following events: (i) any person, other than one or more of the directors of the Company on the effective date of the agreement or any person that any such director controls, becomes the beneficial owner of 50% of more of the combined voting power of the then outstanding voting securities of the Company entitled to vote generally in the election of directors of the Company (the "Company Outstanding Voting Securities); (ii) any person becomes the beneficial owner of 50% or more of the combined voting power of the then outstanding voting securities of the Bank entitled to vote generally in the election of directors of the Bank; (iii) consummation of a reorganization, merger or consolidation (a "Business Combination") of the Company, unless, in each case, following such Business Combination (a) all or substantially all of the Persons who were the beneficial owners, respectively, of the Company Outstanding Voting Securities immediately prior to such Business Combination beneficially own, directly or indirectly, a voting securities entitled to vote generally in the election of directors of the Company resulting from such Business Combination, (b) no person (excluding any company resulting from such Business Combination beneficially owns, directly or indirectly, 50% or more of the combined voting power of the then outstanding voting securities entitled to vote generally in the election of directors of the Company resulting from such Business Combination except to the extent such ownership existed prior to the Business Combination, and (c) at least a majority of the members of the Company Board resulting from the Business Combination are Continuing Directors (as defined in the agreement) at the time of the execution of the definitive agreement, or the action of the Company Board, providing for such Business Combination; (iv) consummation or series of related transactions during the course of any twelve-month period; or (v) the date on which Continuin

The agreement contains restrictive covenants prohibiting Mr. Lally from competing with the Company during the term of his employment and for a period of either (i) 24 months following either an involuntary termination by the Company without Cause or a voluntary termination by Mr. Lally for Good Reason; or (ii) 12 months following any other terminations (the "Restricted Period"). The Employment Agreement also prohibits Mr. Lally from soliciting employees and certain customers of the Company or any of its affiliates during the Restricted Period. In addition, confidentiality provisions in the Employment Agreement prohibit the use or disclosure of confidential information.

## Executive Employment Agreement with Mr. Turner

Effective September 13, 2013, and as amended on February 27, 2015 and October 29, 2015, the Company entered into an Executive Employment Agreement with Mr. Turner. Mr. Turner's agreement, as amended, provides for a continuous term until the agreement is terminated in accordance with its provisions. The agreement provides Mr. Turner with severance compensation in the event of his termination under certain circumstances. The agreement also has confidentiality, non-compete and non-solicitation provisions for his period of employment and for a period of one year after termination of his employment.

The reason for termination determines the amount of severance compensation, if any, due to Mr. Turner. Generally, he is entitled to payment of accrued base salary, bonus to the extent earned, vested deferred compensation, accrued benefits through his date of termination, accrued vacation pay and reimbursement of business expenses. If Mr. Turner's employment is terminated in a "Termination Other Than for Cause," as defined in the agreement, including any termination not by reason of Cause, disability, death, voluntary termination, or Change in Control, and certain constructive terminations, he will be entitled

to severance compensation equal to one year of base salary and target level bonus, paid in a period over one year, and all unvested equity awards will become vested. If Mr. Turner's employment is terminated in a "Termination Upon Change in Control" as defined above and in the agreement, he will be entitled to severance compensation equal to two years of base salary and target level bonus in a lump sum payment 10 days after his satisfaction of the release provisions contained in the agreement, and all unvested equity awards will become vested. Change in Control is generally defined the same as in Mr. Lally's agreement, except that it also includes the acquisition by a person or group of 30% or more of the total voting power of the stock of the Company. Upon any other termination, disability or death, neither Mr. Turner nor his estate will be entitled to any severance compensation.

## Executive Employment Agreement with Mr. Goodman

Effective January 1, 2005, and amended on October 11, 2013, the Company entered into an Executive Employment Agreement with Mr. Goodman. The agreement provides for his continuous employment until the agreement is terminated in accordance with its provisions. The agreement provides Mr. Goodman with severance compensation in the event of his termination under certain circumstances. The agreement also has confidentiality, non-compete and non-solicitation provisions for his period of employment and for a period of one year after termination of his employment.

The reason for termination determines the amount of severance compensation, if any, due to Mr. Goodman. Generally, he is entitled to payment of accrued base salary, bonus to the extent earned, accrued benefits through his date of termination, accrued vacation pay, and reimbursement of business expenses. If Mr. Goodman's employment is terminated in a "Termination Other Than for Cause" as defined in the agreement, including any termination not by reason of Cause, disability, death, voluntary termination, or Change in Control, and certain constructive terminations, he will be entitled to severance compensation equal to one year of base salary and target level bonus, paid in a lump sum payment on the 60<sup>th</sup> day following Mr. Goodman's termination. If Mr. Goodman's employment is terminated in a "Termination Upon a Change in Control", he will be entitled to severance pay equal to two years of base salary plus two times the target amount of his annual cash bonus opportunity for the year, paid in a lump sum payment on the 60<sup>th</sup> day following Mr. Goodman's termination, and all unvested equity awards will become vested for the year in which such termination occurs. Change in Control is generally defined the same as in Mr. Lally's agreement. Upon any other termination, disability or death, neither Mr. Goodman nor his estate will be entitled to any severance compensation.

## Executive Employment Agreement with Mr. Bauche

Effective March 1, 2019, the Company entered into an Amended and Restated Executive Employment Agreement with Mr. Bauche that replaces and supersedes the original employment agreement dated and effective January 15, 2015. The agreement provides for his continuous employment until the agreement is terminated in accordance with its provisions. The agreement provides Mr. Bauche with severance compensation in the event of his termination under certain circumstances. The agreement also has confidentiality, non-compete and non-solicitation provisions for his period of employment and for a period of one year after termination of his employment (unless his employment is terminated without Cause or he voluntarily terminates with Good Reason (as defined in the agreement) three months prior to or 12 months following a Change in Control, in which case the non-compete and non-solicitation provisions are in effect for his period of employment and for a period of 18 months after termination of his employment).

The reason for termination determines the amount of severance compensation, if any, due to Mr. Bauche. Generally, he is entitled to payment of accrued base salary, bonus to the extent earned, accrued benefits through his date of termination, accrued vacation pay, and reimbursement of business expenses. If Mr. Bauche's employment is terminated by the Company without Cause or he voluntarily terminates his employment with Good Reason, he will be entitled to severance compensation equal to one year of base salary and target level bonus, paid over a period of one year, beginning on the first payroll after the 60th day following Mr. Bauche's termination. Mr. Bauche will also receive continued medical benefits for a period of 12 months.

If Mr. Bauche's employment is terminated by the Company without Cause or he voluntarily terminates his employment with Good Reason three months prior or 12 months following a Change in Control (which is generally defined the same as in Mr. Lally's agreement) he will be entitled to severance compensation equal to 18 months of base salary and target level bonus, paid in a lump sum on the 60<sup>th</sup> day following Mr. Bauche's termination, and all unvested equity awards will become vested for the year in which such termination occurs. Mr. Bauche will also receive continued medical benefits for a period of 18 months. Upon any other termination, disability or death, neither Mr. Bauche nor his estate will be entitled to any severance compensation.

## Executive Employment Agreement with Ms. Iannacone

Effective March 1, 2019, the Company entered into an Executive Employment Agreement with Ms. Iannacone. The agreement provides for her continuous employment until the agreement is terminated in accordance with its provisions. The agreement

provides Ms. Iannacone with severance compensation in the event of her termination under certain circumstances. The agreement also has confidentiality, non-compete and non-solicitation provisions for her period of employment and for a period of one year after termination of her employment (unless her employment is terminated without Cause or she voluntarily terminates with Good Reason (as defined in the agreement) three months prior to or 12 months following a Change in Control, in which case the non-compete and non-solicitation provisions are in effect for her period of employment and for a period of 18 months after termination of her employment).

The reason for termination determines the amount of severance compensation, if any, due to Ms. Iannacone. Generally, she is entitled to payment of accrued base salary, bonus to the extent earned, accrued benefits through her date of termination, accrued vacation pay, and reimbursement of business expenses. If Ms. Iannacone's employment is terminated by the Company without Cause or she voluntarily terminates her employment with Good Reason, she will be entitled to severance compensation equal to one year of base salary and target level bonus, paid over a period of one year, beginning on the first payroll after the 60th day following Ms. Iannacone's termination. Ms. Iannacone will also receive continued medical benefits for a period of 12 months.

If Ms. Iannacone's employment is terminated by the Company without Cause or she voluntarily terminates her employment with Good Reason three months prior or 12 months following a Change in Control (which is generally defined the same as in Mr. Lally's agreement) she will be entitled to severance compensation equal to 18 months of base salary and target level bonus, paid in a lump sum on the 60th day following Ms. Iannacone's termination, and all unvested equity awards will become vested for the year in which such termination occurs. Ms. Iannacone will also receive continued medical benefits for a period of 18 months. Upon any other termination, disability or death, neither Ms. Iannacone nor her estate will be entitled to any severance compensation.

## SUMMARY COMPENSATION TABLE

The following table shows the compensation paid to the Company's Named Executive Officers that were named as such during the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019.

			D(6)	Stock	Option	Non-Equity Incentive Plan	All Other	
Name and Principal Position	Year	Salary (\$)	Bonus (\$) (1)	Awards (\$) (2)	Awards (\$) (3)	Compensation (\$) (4)	Compensation (\$) (5)	Total (\$)
James B. Lally	2021	\$ 697,885	\$ —	\$ 777,478	\$ 221,873	\$ 719,644	\$ 33,186	\$ 2,450,066
President and Chief Executive Officer	2020	619,809	_	405,101	_	499,200	32,886	1,556,996
Executive Officer	2019	529,167	60,000	360,278	_	352,284	32,586	1,334,315
Keene S. Turner	2021	449,808	100,000	398,617	113,748	329,415	24,600	1,416,188
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer	2020	416,443	100,000	192,127	_	276,250	24,300	1,009,120
Chief I manetai Officei	2019	377,483	35,000	157,624	_	208,050	31,067	809,224
Scott R. Goodman	2021	390,674	30,000	276,824	79,002	257,379	33,938	1,067,817
President - EB&T	2020	366,073	30,000	150,556	_	216,450	33,638	796,717
	2019	346,799	35,000	144,825	_	184,150	33,338	744,112
Douglas N. Bauche	2021	335,674	20,000	208,490	59,503	196,925	33,186	853,778
Chief Credit Officer - EB&T	2020	310,911	50,000	113,925	_	163,800	32,886	671,522
	2019	289,283	35,000	106,478	_	135,392	31,561	597,714
Nicole M. Iannacone	2021	321,539	55,000	199,287	56,874	188,237	24,600	845,537
Executive Vice President, Chief Risk Officer; General	2020	295,078	40,000	110,291	_	158,600	24,300	628,269
Counsel - EB&T and EFSC Corporate Secretary	2019	248,874	75,000	91,892	_	121,234	21,900	558,900

- (1) In 2020 for Messrs. Turner and Bauche and Ms. Iannacone, \$100,000, \$20,000 and \$40,000, respectively, represent payments for the NEOs' role in connection with the Seacoast acquisition, while \$30,000 for Messrs. Bauche and Goodman represent payments for their leadership in the Company's PPP program and strong financial contribution of this program. In 2021 for Messrs. Turner, Goodman and Bauche and Ms. Iannacone, \$100,000, \$30,000, \$20,000 and \$55,000, respectively, represent payments for the NEOs' role in connection with the First Choice acquisition.
- (2) The amounts shown in this column represent the grant date fair value, computed in accordance with ASC 718, disregarding estimates of forfeiture, of share denominated performance contingent grants of stock. For more information, please refer to Note 16 Shareholders' Equity and Compensation Plans included in the Company's 2021 Consolidated Financial Statements on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on February 25, 2022. For performance-based awards, the grant value reflects the performance component of the grant at target and the market condition component of the grant reflects the grant date fair value derived using a Monte Carlo simulation. The maximum value of the performance-based awards granted during 2021 is \$1,408,412 for Mr. Lally; \$722,101 for Mr. Turner; \$501,471 for Mr. Goodman; \$377,682 for Mr. Bauche; and \$361,028 for Ms. Iannacone.
- (3) The amounts shown in the column represent the grant date fair value computed in accordance with ASC 718 of stock option grants. For more information, please refer to Note 16 Shareholders' Equity and Compensation Plans included in the Company's 2021 Consolidated Financial Statements on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on February 25, 2022.
- (4) The amounts shown in this column constitute the Short-Term Cash Incentive earned by each Named Executive Officer based on the Board's evaluation of each Officer's performance. These awards are discussed in further detail under the heading "Compensation Components Short-Term Incentive Plan" in the Compensation Discussion and Analysis section above.
- (5) This column indicates amounts for various benefits provided to the Named Executive Officers as shown in the following supplemental table.

## ALL OTHER COMPENSATION - SUPPLEMENTAL TABLE

			Car Allowance			Other Cash	
Name	Year	401(k) Match	(1)	Club Dues	Life Insurance	Bonus (2)	Total
James B. Lally	2021	\$ 17,400	\$ 7,200	\$ 7,200	\$ 1,386	\$ —	\$ 33,186
	2020	17,100	7,200	7,200	1,386	_	32,886
	2019	16,800	7,200	7,200	1,386	_	32,586
Keene S. Turner	2021	17,400	7,200	_	_	_	24,600
	2020	17,100	7,200	_	_	_	24,300
	2019	16,800	7,200	_	_	7,067	31,067
Scott R. Goodman	2021	17,400	7,200	7,200	2,138	_	33,938
	2020	17,100	7,200	7,200	2,138	_	33,638
	2019	16,800	7,200	7,200	2,138	_	33,338
Douglas N. Bauche	2021	17,400	7,200	7,200	1,386	_	33,186
	2020	17,100	7,200	7,200	1,386	_	32,886
	2019	16,800	7,200	6,175	1,386	_	31,561
Nicole M. Iannacone	2021	17,400	7,200	_	_	_	24,600
	2020	17,100	7,200	_	_	_	24,300
	2019	16,800	5,100	_	_	_	21,900

- (1) Executive officers along with certain key members of senior management are typically provided a car allowance, which may be used toward the cost of car ownership, including leases/loans, insurance, and maintenance.
- (2) Mr. Turner received a relocation allowance in 2019.

## **GRANTS OF PLAN-BASED AWARDS**

			ed Future Payo ity Incentive P (1)		Estimated Future Payouts Under Equity Incentive Plan Awards (# of shares)(2)		All Other Stock	All Other Option Awards (# of securities	Exercise or Base Price of	Grant Date Fair Value of Stock and	
Name	Grant Date	Threshold	Target	Maximum	Threshold	Target	Maximum	Awards (# of shares)	underlying options)	Option Awards	Option Awards (3)
James B. Lally	2/25/2021	\$ 248,500	\$ 497,000	\$ 745,500							
	2/25/2021				3,345	13,380	26,760	3,345	17,637	\$ 43.81	\$ 999,351
Keene S. Turner	2/25/2021	113,750	227,500	341,250							
	2/25/2021				1,715	6,860	13,720	1,715	9,042	43.81	512,365
Scott R. Goodman	2/25/2021	88,875	177,750	266,625							
	2/25/2021				1,191	4,764	9,528	1,191	6,280	43.81	355,826
Douglas N. Bauche	2/25/2021	68,000	136,000	204,000							
	2/25/2021				897	3,588	7,176	897	4,730	43.81	267,993
Nicole M. Iannacone	2/25/2021	65,000	130,000	195,000							
	2/25/2021				857	3,430	6,860	857	4,521	43.81	256,161

- (1) The material terms of the annual cash incentive awards are described in the section titled "Compensation Components Short-Term Incentive Plan," in the Compensation Discussion and Analysis section above.
- (2) The amounts shown reflect the threshold, target, and maximum incentive grants under the Amended and Restated 2018 Stock Incentive Plan. These awards are denominated in shares. If performance conditions are met, the awards will be made in shares of Company stock. For more information on these awards, see under the heading "Compensation Components Long-Term Incentive Plan", in the Compensation Discussion and Analysis section above.

(3) The aggregate grant date fair value of the grants were computed in accordance with ASC 718. The grant value reflects the performance component of the grant at target and the market condition component of the grant reflects the grant date fair value derived using a Monte Carlo simulation.

For more information, please refer to Note 16 – Shareholders' Equity and Compensation Plans included in the Company's 2021 Consolidated Financial Statements on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on February 25, 2022.

## **OUTSTANDING EQUITY AWARDS AT FISCAL YEAR END**

The following table sets forth the outstanding equity awards as of December 31, 2021, for each NEO.

		Option Award	ds					Stock			
Name	Number of Securities Underlying Unexercised Options (#) Exercisable	Number of Securities Underlying Unexercised Options (#) Unexercisable (1)	Securities Inderlying nexercised Option Options (#) Exercise		Option Expiration Date	Number of Shares or Units of Stock That Have Not Vested (#) (2)	Market Value of Shares or Units of Stock That Have Not Vested (\$)		Equity Incentive Plan Awards: Number of Unearned Shares, Units or Other Rights That Have Not Vested (#) (3)	Equity Incentive Plan Awards: Market or Payout Value of Unearned Shares, Units or Other Rights That Have Not Vested (\$) (3)	
James B. Lally	_	17,637	\$	43.81	2/25/2031	6,858	\$	322,943	27,434	\$	1,291,867
Keene S. Turner	_	9,042		43.81	2/25/2031	3,325		156,574	13,300		626,297
Scott R. Goodman	_	6,280	Ť	43.81	2/25/2031	2,544		119,797	10,172		478,999
Douglas N. Bauche	_	4,730		43.81	2/25/2031	1,907		89,801	7,628		359,203
Nicole M. Iannacone	_	4,521		43.81	2/25/2031	1,788		84,197	7,150		336,694

- (1) Options vest on February 25, 2024.
- (2) Shares or units of stock shall vest on the following dates for each Named Executive Officer as follows: Mr. Lally: 1,531 on January 31, 2022, 1,982 on January 31, 2023, and 3,345 on January 31, 2024; Mr. Turner: 670 on January 31, 2022, 940 on January 31, 2023, and 1,715 on January 31, 2024; Mr. Goodman: 616 on January 31, 2022, 737 on January 31, 2023, and 1,191 on January 31, 2024; Mr. Bauche: 453 on January 31, 2022, 557 on January 31, 2023, and 897 on January 31, 2024; Ms. Iannacone: 391 on January 31, 2022, 540 on January 31, 2023, and 857 on January 31, 2024.
- (3) The amounts shown reflect target incentive grants under the Amended and Restated 2018 Stock Incentive Plan. The settlements for these grants are contingent on the Company's results for a three-year period. These grants are discussed in further detail under the heading "Compensation Components Long-Term Incentive Plan," in the Compensation Discussion and Analysis section above.

## OPTION EXERCISES AND STOCK VESTED

The following table sets forth information concerning the value realized by each NEO with respect to any option exercises or vesting of stock awards for each NEO during 2021.

	Option A	Stock A	wards		
	Number of Shares Value Acquired on Realized on Exercise (1) Exercise		Number of Shares Acquired on Vesting (1)	Value Realized on Vesting	_
Name	(#)	(\$)	(\$) (#)		
James B. Lally	_	\$ —	5,145	\$ 247,989	)
Keene S. Turner	_	_	3,408	\$ 164,890	)
Scott R. Goodman	_	_	2,069	\$ 99,726	5
Douglas N. Bauche	_	_	1,521	\$ 73,312	2
Nicole M. Iannacone	_	_	1,313	\$ 63,287	7

<sup>(1)</sup> Includes shares acquired that were subsequently withheld to pay for taxes.

## NONQUALIFIED DEFERRED COMPENSATION

The following table sets forth information for each NEO during 2021 with respect to our Deferred Compensation Plan. Our Deferred Compensation Plan permits certain executives to participate and defer up to 25% of their base salary and/or up to 100% of their eligible bonus for a plan year. Participants can direct the investment of their accounts among the hypothetical investment alternatives made available under the plan and their accounts are adjusted for deemed investment gains or losses resulting from such investment directions. Participants make an irrevocable election when they elect to participate for a plan year to receive the vested account balance following their retirement date, or at a future date not less than five years after the beginning of the plan year. Participants may make hardship withdrawals under specific circumstances.

Name	Executive Contributions in Last Fiscal Year (1)	Aggregate Earnings in Last Fiscal Year	Aggregate Withdrawals/ Distributions	Aggregate Balance at Last Fiscal Year End
	(-)	f 122,222	•	
James B. Lally	\$ 50,000	\$ 133.333	S —	\$ 805.258

<sup>(1)</sup> Amounts in this column have been reported in the "Salary" and "Non-Equity Incentive Plan Compensation" columns of the Summary Compensation Table on page 29.

## POTENTIAL PAYMENTS UPON TERMINATION OR CHANGE IN CONTROL

Historically, our Named Executive Officers have been entitled to severance and change in control compensation under certain termination of employment events. The amounts potentially payable to our NEOs under our Deferred Compensation Plan are set forth under the Nonqualified Deferred Compensation section above. The following table quantifies the amount of such compensation which would have been received if the qualifying event had occurred as of December 31, 2021. In the case of acceleration of unvested equity awards, the amount shown is based upon the closing price of \$47.09 per share for our common stock as of December 31, 2021, and reflects the value of performance awards at target, RSUs and the net cash equivalent due the holder offset by any exercise or "strike" price for stock options.

	Voluntary Termination / For Cause	Un A	Acceleration of Unvested Equity Awards Upon Disability / Death		Total Compensation Upon Termination Other Than for Cause		Severance Upon Change in Control Termination		Acceleration of Unvested Equity Awards Upon a Change in Control		Total Compensation Upon Change in Control Termination	
Name	(a)	<b>(b)</b>			(c)		(d)		(e)		(d+e)	
James B. Lally	none	\$	1,672,659	\$	2,447,524	\$	2,447,524	\$	1,672,659	\$	4,120,183	
Keene S. Turner	none		812,529		682,500		1,365,000		812,529		2,177,529	
Scott R. Goodman	none		619,394		572,750		1,145,500		619,394		1,764,894	
Douglas N. Bauche	none		464,518		492,762		739,143		464,518		1,203,661	
Nicole M. Iannacone	none		435,720		463,889		695,833		435,720		1,131,553	

## CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER PAY RATIO

Our compensation and benefits philosophy and overall structure are broadly similar across the organization to encourage and reward all employees who contribute to our success. We strive to ensure our employees' pay reflects the level of their impact and responsibilities and is market competitive. The SEC requires companies to disclose the ratio of the annual total compensation of our chief executive officer to the median annual total compensation of our employees. The paragraphs that follow describe our methodology and the resulting pay ratio for the year ended December 31, 2021.

We identified our median employee using our employee population and annual compensation as of December 31, 2021. We annualized the pay for employees who commenced work during 2021. We excluded approximately 102 employees from the current year acquisition of First Choice in the analysis. The annual total compensation of our median employee determined through this approach for the fiscal year 2021 was \$73,764. Our CEO's compensation as reported in the Summary Compensation Table was \$2,450,066 for the year ended December 31, 2021. Based on these compensation amounts, our estimate of the ratio of annual total compensation of the CEO to the annual total compensation of our median employee was 33:1.

Our pay ratio is a reasonable estimate calculated based on rules and guidance provided by the SEC based on our payroll and employment records and the methodology described above. The SEC rules allow for varying methodologies for companies to identify their median employee; and other companies may have different employment and compensation practices and may utilize different methodologies, exclusions, estimates and assumptions in calculating their own pay ratios. Consequently, the pay ratios reported by other companies are unlikely to be relevant or meaningful for purposes of comparison to our pay ratio as reported here.

This information is being provided for compliance purposes. Neither the Compensation Committee nor management of the Company used the pay ratio measure in making compensation decisions.

## COMPENSATION COMMITTEE INTERLOCKS AND INSIDER PARTICIPATION

The members of the Company's Compensation Committee are set forth on page 12. None of the members of the Compensation Committee were officers or employees of the Company or any of its subsidiaries in 2021, nor was any member formerly an officer or employee of the Company or any of its subsidiaries. For information about related person transactions involving members of our Compensation Committee, see "Related Person Transactions - Loans to Related Persons."

During 2021, no executive officer of the Company served as (i) a member of a compensation committee (or other Board committee performing equivalent functions or, in the absence of any such committee, the entire Board) of another entity, one of whose executive officers served on the Compensation Committee of the Company, (ii) a director of another entity, one of

whose executive officers served on the Compensation Committee, or (iii) a member of the compensation committee (or other Board committee performing equivalent functions or, in the absence of any such committee, the entire Board) of another entity, one of whose executive officers served as a director of the Company.

# RATIFICATION OF APPOINTMENT OF DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP AS THE COMPANY'S INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM FOR THE YEAR ENDING DECEMBER 31, 2022 – (Proposal B)

The Audit Committee has selected Deloitte & Touche LLP to be the independent registered public accounting firm for year ending December 31, 2022. Deloitte & Touche LLP acted as the Company's independent registered public accounting firm for the year ending December 31, 2021. The Board, on behalf of the Audit Committee, recommends that the shareholders ratify the appointment of the accounting firm. Although shareholder approval is not required by law and is not binding on the Audit Committee, the appointment is submitted by the Audit Committee of the Board in order to give the shareholders a voice in the designation of auditors. If the shareholders do not ratify the selection of Deloitte & Touche LLP, the engagement of Deloitte & Touche LLP, will not be affected for year ended December 31, 2022. However, the Audit Committee will review the selection of the independent registered public accounting firm for the next fiscal year. Even if the resolution is approved, the Audit Committee of the Board in its discretion may direct the appointment of different independent registered public accounting firms at any time during the year if it determines that a change would be in the best interest of the Company and its shareholders.

Deloitte & Touche LLP representatives are expected to attend the 2022 Annual Meeting. They will have an opportunity to make a statement if they desire to do so and will be available to respond to shareholder questions.

#### **Vote Required**

The affirmative vote of holders of the majority of the shares for which votes are cast at the 2022 Annual Meeting is needed to approve this proposal. Abstentions and broker "non-votes" will not be counted as votes cast and, therefore, will not affect this proposal. Further, the failure to vote, either by proxy or in person, will not have an effect on this proposal. Unless instructions to the contrary are specified in a proxy properly voted and returned through available channels, the proxies will be voted **FOR** this proposal.

#### **Recommendation of the Board of Directors**

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS, ON BEHALF OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE, UNANIMOUSLY RECOMMENDS THAT SHAREHOLDERS VOTE "FOR" THE RATIFICATION OF DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP AS THE COMPANY'S INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM.

### ADVISORY (NON-BINDING) APPROVAL OF EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION - (Proposal C)

We are providing our shareholders the opportunity to vote on an advisory (nonbinding) resolution to approve our executive compensation as described in the section captioned "Compensation Discussion and Analysis," the tabular disclosure regarding compensation of our Named Executive Officers and the narrative disclosure accompanying those tables, all as set forth in pages 15 through 24 of this Proxy Statement.

The Dodd-Frank Act requires under Section 14A of the Exchange Act that companies provide their shareholders with the opportunity to cast an advisory vote to approve executive officer compensation, commonly referred to as a "Say-on-Pay" vote, at least once every three years. Our Board determined, as a result of the latest advisory vote regarding how often the Company should include a Say-on-Pay vote in its proxy materials, that we will have such an advisory Say-on-Pay vote annually.

This Say-on-Pay proposal, gives you as a shareholder the opportunity to endorse or not endorse our executive pay program through the following resolution:

"RESOLVED, that the shareholders hereby approve the compensation of the Company's Named Executive Officers, as disclosed in the Company's Proxy Statement for the 2022 Annual Meeting of Shareholders, including the Compensation Discussion and Analysis, the tabular disclosure regarding compensation of our Named Executive Officers and the narrative disclosure accompanying those tables."

For the reasons set forth in this Proxy Statement, including the Compensation Discussion and Analysis, and the Report of the Compensation Committee, we believe our compensation policies and procedures are centered on a pay-for-performance culture, are competitive in our marketplace, are strongly aligned with the long-term interests of our shareholders, and that the compensation paid to our executives is consistent with such policies and procedures.

#### Vote Required

Your vote on this proposal is an advisory vote, which means that the Company and the Board are not required to take any action based on the outcome of the vote. However, the Board will consider the vote of our shareholders on this proposal when determining the nature and scope of future executive compensation programs and decisions.

The affirmative vote of holders of the majority of the shares for which votes are cast at the 2022 Annual Meeting is needed to approve this proposal on a non-binding advisory basis. Abstentions and broker "non-votes" will not be counted as votes cast and, therefore, will not affect this proposal. Further, the failure to vote, either by proxy or in person, will not have an effect on this proposal. Unless instructions to the contrary are specified in a proxy properly voted and returned through available channels, the proxies will be voted **FOR** this proposal.

#### Recommendation of the Board of Directors

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS UNANIMOUSLY RECOMMENDS THAT SHAREHOLDERS VOTE "FOR" APPROVAL OF THE COMPENSATION OF THE COMPANY'S NAMED EXECUTIVE OFFICERS.

#### INFORMATION REGARDING BENEFICIAL OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT

Except as noted below, the following tables show, as of March 9, 2022, certain information about the beneficial ownership of common stock and depositary shares (each representing a 1/40th ownership interest in a share of 5.00% Fixed Rate Non-Cumulative Perpetual Preferred Stock, Series A) by: (i) those persons or entities known by management to beneficially own more than 5% of our common stock, (ii) each director, director nominee, and NEO, and (iii) all directors and executive officers as a group. As of March 9, 2022, there were 37,737,590 shares of common stock outstanding and 3,000,000 depositary shares outstanding (each representing a 1/40th ownership interest in a share of 5.00% Fixed Rate Non-Cumulative Perpetual Preferred Stock, Series A). For purposes of the information in the following tables, "ownership" includes (i) shares of common stock or depositary shares directly or indirectly owned as of that date and (ii) shares of common stock which the named entity or individual has the right to acquire (by contract conversion or vesting) if such right is exercisable as of the date or will become exercisable within 60 days thereafter. Percentages shown below reflect such possible exercises but only as to the individual, entity or group whose percentage is being calculated.

Name & Address of Beneficial Owner	Number of Common Shares	Percentage of Ownership
BlackRock Inc. (1)	2,502,099	6.6 %
55 East 52nd Street		
New York, NY 10055		
EARNEST Partners, LLC (2)	2,386,947	6.3 %
1180 Peachtree Street NE, Suite 2300		
Atlanta, Georgia 30309		

- (1) Holdings reported on Schedule 13G/A filed with the SEC on February 1, 2022.
- (2) Holdings reported on Schedule 13G/A filed with the SEC on February 11, 2022.

Directors and Named Executive Officers Beneficial Owner	Number of Common Shares (1) (2)	Percentage of Ownership	Number of Depositary Shares (3)	Percentage of Ownership
Douglas N. Bauche (2)	12,220	*		_
Michael A. DeCola (4)	37,026	*	_	_
John S. Eulich	120,449	*	_	_
Scott R. Goodman (2)	49,933	*	_	_
Robert E. Guest, Jr. (5)	90,496	*	_	_
James M. Havel	12,342	*	_	_
Judith S. Heeter	12,539	*	_	_
Michael R. Holmes	12,965	*	_	_
Peter H. Hui (7)	522,564	1.4 %	_	_
Nicole M. Iannacone	5,429	*	_	
Nevada A. Kent, IV	9,342	*	_	_
James B. Lally (2) (6)	84,969	*	_	
Stephen P. Marsh	45,067	*	_	_
Daniel A. Rodrigues	1,944	*	_	
Richard M. Sanborn (8)	400,305	1.3 %	_	_
Anthony R. Scavuzzo (9)	756,426	3.2 %	_	
Eloise E. Schmitz	6,904	*	_	_
Keene S. Turner (2)	35,387	*	2,000	*
Sandra A. Van Trease	50,202	*	_	_
All Directors and Executive Officers as a Group (20 total)	2,281,265	5.9 %	2,000	*

<sup>\*</sup> Less than 1%

- (1) Unless otherwise indicated, the named person has sole voting and investment power for all shares shown.
- (2) Includes shares indirectly held in the EFSC Incentive Savings Plan beneficially owned by the named person, as follows: Mr. Lally, 16,267 shares; Mr. Turner, 1,490 shares; Mr. Goodman, 4,616 shares; and Mr. Bauche, 2,525 shares.
- (3) Each depositary share represents a 1/40th ownership interest in a share of 5.00% Fixed Rate Non-Cumulative Perpetual Preferred Stock, Series A.
- (4) Includes 10,130 shares held jointly by Mr. DeCola and his spouse as to which Mr. DeCola has shared voting and investment power and 24,936 shares held in the name of Mr. DeCola in which he has sole voting and investment power. Includes 1,960 shares held in a trust for the benefit of Mr. DeCola in which he has sole voting and investment power.
- (5) Includes 7,000 shares held in the name of Mr. Guest in which he has sole voting and investment power. Includes 73,077 shares held jointly by Mr. Guest and his spouse as to which Mr. Guest has shared voting and investment power; 8,220 shares held in an Individual Retirement Account for the benefit of Mr. Guest's spouse as to which Mr. Guest has shared voting and investment power.
- (6) Includes 9,270 shares held jointly by Mr. Lally and his spouse as to which Mr. Lally has shared voting and investment power.
- (7) Includes 453,248 shares beneficially held in the name of Mr. Hui in which he has sole voting and investment power. Includes 62,032 shares held jointly by Mr. Hui and his spouse to which Mr. Hui has shared voting and investment power, and 5,436 shares held in an Individual Retirement Account for the benefit of Mr. Hui's spouse as to which Mr. Hui has shared voting and investment power.
- (8) Includes 104,187 shares held directly, which Mr. Sanborn has sole voting and investment power. Also includes 272,465 shares beneficially owned by the Sanborn Family Trust; 15,448 held jointly by Mr. Sanborn and his spouse; and 8,205 shares held in a Family Foundation, all to which Mr. Sanborn has shared voting and investment power.

(9) Includes 756,385 shares beneficially held by Castle Creek Capital Partners VI LP ("Castle Creek"). Mr Scavuzzo is a Principal member of Castle Creek, and has shared voting and investment power over such shares. Mr. Scavuzzo disclaims beneficial ownership of such shares.

#### RELATED PERSON TRANSACTIONS

#### **Loans to Related Persons**

Some of the directors, including members of the Compensation Committee, and officers of the Company and the Bank, and members of their immediate families and firms and corporations with which they are associated, have had transactions with the Bank, including borrowings and investments. All such loans and investments have been made in the ordinary course of business, have been made on substantially the same terms, including interest rate paid or charged and collateral required, as those prevailing at the time for comparable transactions with persons not related to the Company, and did not involve more than the normal risk of collectability or present other unfavorable features.

#### **Corporate Governance Agreement**

As noted above, Mr. Scavuzzo previously served on Trinity's board of directors prior to the Company's acquisition of Trinity, and his employer became a shareholder of the Company in connection with the acquisition. As a condition of his appointment to serve as director of the Company, the Company and Castle Creek together with Mr. Scavuzzo, entered into a Corporate Governance Agreement. The Corporate Governance Agreement provides, among other things, that Castle Creek agrees to be bound by the Company's corporate governance guidelines, the Company's Code of Ethics and the Company's Insider Trading Policy, including observing blackout windows on trading, all to the same extent as the Company's directors.

While the Corporate Governance Agreement remains in effect, Castle Creek may not seek other representation on the Board, acquire an ownership level of the Company's securities greater than 9.9%, make efforts to acquire the Company either individually or in combination with other parties, submit shareholder proposals pursuant to Rule 14a-8 under the Exchange Act, or encourage or actively assist any person or entity in opposing any proposal submitted by the Board to a vote by the Company's shareholders.

Fees earned by Mr. Scavuzzo will be paid, in cash, to Castle Creek or its designated affiliates, and not to Mr. Scavuzzo individually.

#### Review, Approval or Ratification with Related Persons

Our Code of Ethics requires that every employee and director avoid situations where loyalties may be divided between our interests and the employee or director's own interests. Employees and directors must avoid conflicts of interests that interfere with the performance of their duties or are not in the best interests of the Company.

Pursuant to its written charter, the Audit Committee reviews all related-party transactions as required to be disclosed in our financial statements or periodic filings with the SEC, other than specific categories of pre-approved transactions set forth in our Related Party Transactions Policy. Related party transactions include transactions between the Company, our executive officers and directors, beneficial owners of five percent or greater of our securities, and all other related persons specified under Item 404 of Regulation S-K promulgated by the SEC. The Audit Committee considers each proposed transaction in light of the specific facts and circumstances presented, including but not limited to the risks, costs and benefits to us.

#### **DELINQUENT SECTION 16(a) REPORTS**

Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act requires directors, certain officers and all persons who beneficially own more than 10 percent of our common stock file reports with the SEC with respect to beneficial ownership of our securities. We have adopted procedures to assist our directors and executive officers in complying with the Section 16(a) filings.

Based solely upon our review of the copies of the filings that we received with respect to the fiscal year that ended December 31, 2021, or written representations from certain reporting persons, we believe that all reporting persons made all filings required by Section 16(a) in a timely manner.

#### AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT

The Audit Committee submits the following report:

The Audit Committee's role includes assisting the Board in monitoring the integrity of the Company's financial statements and related reporting process, compliance by the Company with legal and regulatory requirements, the independent registered public accounting firm qualifications, independence and performance, performance of the Company's internal audit function and the business practices and ethical standards of the Company. The Audit Committee operates under a written charter approved by the Board.

Management is responsible for the Company's internal controls and financial reporting process. The Company's independent registered public accounting firm, Deloitte & Touche LLP, is responsible for performing an independent audit of the Company's consolidated financial statements and internal control over financial reporting in accordance with standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) ("PCAOB") and to express its opinions on the Company's financial statements in accordance with generally accepted United States accounting principles and the Company's internal control over financial reporting. The Audit Committee's responsibility is to monitor and oversee these processes. In addition, the Audit Committee is directly responsible for the appointment and oversight of the independent registered public accounting firm, including review of their qualifications, independence and performance.

The Audit Committee has reviewed and discussed the Company's audited financial statements and internal control report with management and the independent registered public accounting firm. The Audit Committee discussed with the independent registered public accounting firm the matters required to be discussed by the applicable requirements of the PCAOB and the SEC. The Audit Committee received written disclosures and the letter from the independent registered public accounting firm as required by the applicable requirements of the PCAOB regarding the independent registered public accounting firm's communications with the Audit Committee concerning independence and has discussed with the auditors their independence. As part of its review, the Audit Committee reviewed the fees paid to Deloitte & Touche LLP and considered whether Deloitte & Touche LLP's performance of non-audit services for the Company was compatible with auditors' independence. The Audit Committee has concluded that Deloitte & Touche LLP is independent from the Company and its management.

Based on the review and discussions described above, the Audit Committee recommended to the Board that the Company's audited financial statements be included in its Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2021 for filing with the SEC.

Respectfully submitted by the following independent directors, who comprise the Audit Committee,

Sandra A. Van Trease, Chairperson James M. Havel Nevada A. Kent, IV Eloise E. Schmitz

The foregoing report of the Audit Committee does not constitute soliciting material and should not be deemed filed or incorporated by reference into any other Company filing under the Securities Act of 1933, as amendment or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, except to the extent the Company specifically incorporates the report by reference therein.

#### FEES PAID TO INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The following table sets forth fees billed to the Company by Deloitte & Touche LLP, the Company's principal accounting firm for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020:

		December 31,			
	<u>-</u>	2021		2020	
Audit fees (1)	\$	1,095,500	\$	976,500	
Audit related fees (2)		173,217		41,000	
Tax fees (3)		88,337		55,832	
	\$	1,357,054	\$	1,073,332	

- (1) Includes professional services rendered for the audit of the Company's consolidated annual financial statements, reports on internal control and review of financial statements in the Company's reports on Form 10-Q and services normally provided in connection with regulatory filings or engagements including consultation on various accounting matters.
- (2) Audit related fees in 2021 and 2020 related primarily to services for consulting.
- (3) Tax fees include fees for services principally related to the review of Company prepared tax returns.

The Audit Committee is required to pre-approve all auditing services and permitted non-auditing services to be performed by the Company's independent registered public accounting firm. The Chairperson of the Audit Committee has authority to approve in advance all audit or non-audit services to be performed by the independent registered public accounting firm, but must report any such approval to the full Audit Committee at the next regularly scheduled meeting.

During the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021, all the services described under the headings "Audit Fees," "Audit Related Fees" and "Tax Fees" were approved by the Audit Committee pursuant to the procedures described above.

Deloitte & Touche LLP representatives are expected to attend the 2022 Annual Meeting. They will have an opportunity to make a statement if they desire to do so and will be available to respond to shareholder questions.

### PROPOSALS OF SHAREHOLDERS

Shareholders are entitled to present proposals for action at a forthcoming shareholders' annual meeting if they comply with the requirements of the SEC proxy rules. Any proposals intended to be presented at the 2023 Annual Meeting of Shareholders of the Company must be received at the Company's principal office at 150 North Meramec Ave., Clayton, Missouri 63105 on or before November 22, 2022, which is at least one hundred twenty (120) days prior to the anniversary date this Proxy Statement was released to our shareholders for the 2022 Annual Meeting, in order to be considered for inclusion in the Company's proxy statement and form of proxy relating to such meeting.

Any shareholder who intends to propose any other matter to be acted upon at the 2023 Annual Meeting of Shareholders (but not include such proposal in the Company's proxy statement) must inform the Company, in the manner specified in the Company's By-Laws, no later than ninety nor more than one hundred twenty days prior to the first anniversary of the 2022 Annual Meeting. As a result, the notice pursuant to the Company's By-Laws must be received by the Company no earlier than January 3, 2023 and no later than February 2, 2023. Similarly, any shareholder nomination for a director to be elected at the 2023 Annual Meeting of Shareholders must be submitted to the Company, in the manner and form specified in the Company's By-Laws, no earlier than January 3, 2023 and no later than February 2, 2023.

No notice that a shareholder intends to present a proposal at the 2022 Annual Meeting was received by the Company on or before January 28, 2022, which is ninety (90) days prior to the one-year anniversary of the 2021 Annual Meeting of Shareholders.

#### OTHER MATTERS

As of the date of this Proxy Statement, the Board of the Company does not intend to present, nor has it been informed that other persons intend to present, any matters for action at the 2022 Annual Meeting, other than those specifically referred to herein. If, however, any other matters should properly come before the 2022 Annual Meeting, it is the intention of the persons named on the Proxy Card to vote the shares represented thereby in accordance with their judgment as to the best interests of the Company on such matters.

#### HOUSEHOLDING

The SEC has adopted rules that permit companies and intermediaries, such as brokers, to satisfy delivery requirements for proxy statements with respect to two or more shareholders sharing the same address by delivering a single proxy statement addressed to those shareholders. This process, which is commonly referred to as "householding," potentially provides extra convenience for shareholders at cost savings for companies. We and some brokers household proxy materials, delivering a single proxy statement to multiple shareholders sharing an address unless contrary instructions have been received from the affected shareholders. Once you have received notice from your broker or us that they or we will be householding materials to your address, householding will continue until you are notified otherwise or until you revoke your consent. If, at any time, you no longer wish to participate in householding and would prefer to receive a separate proxy statement (which will be promptly delivered upon such request), or if you are receiving multiple copies of the proxy statement and wish to receive only one, please notify your broker or nominee if your shares are held in a brokerage account or other account or our agent, Broadridge Financial Services, Inc. ("Broadridge") if you hold registered shares. You can notify Broadridge by sending written request to: Broadridge, 51 Mercedes Way, Edgewood NY 11717, or calling Broadridge at 1-800-353-0103.

#### ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

The Company's website is www.enterprisebank.com. We make available free of charge on or through our website, various reports that we file with or furnish to the SEC, including our annual reports, quarterly reports, current reports and proxy statements. These reports are made available as soon as reasonably practicable after they are filed with or furnished to the SEC. In addition, the Company's corporate governance documents are available through our website www.enterprisebank.com under "Investor Relations." Additionally, this Proxy Statement and our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2021 are available from the SEC at its website, www.sec.gov.

Upon written request, the Company will furnish to shareholders, without charge, a copy of the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2021. The written request should be sent to the Corporate Secretary, Enterprise Financial Services Corp, 150 North Meramec Ave, Clayton, Missouri, 63105.

By Order of the Board of Directors,

Nicole M. Iannacone, Corporate Secretary

#### USE OF NON-GAAP FINANCIAL MEASURES

The Company's accounting and reporting policies conform to U.S. GAAP and the prevailing practices in the banking industry. However, the Company provides other financial measures, such as tangible book value per common share, pre-provision net revenue return on average assets, and adjusted return on average tangible common equity in this report that are considered "non-GAAP financial measures." Generally, a non-GAAP financial measure is a numerical measure of a company's financial performance, financial position, or cash flows that exclude (or include) amounts that are included in (or excluded from) the most directly comparable measure calculated and presented in accordance with GAAP.

The Company considers its tangible book value per common share, pre-provision net revenue return on average assets, and adjusted return on average tangible common equity collectively "core performance measures" presented in this report, as relevant measures of financial performance, even though they are non-GAAP measures, as they provide supplemental information by which to evaluate the impact of certain non-comparable items, and the Company's operating performance on an ongoing basis. The attached tables contain a reconciliation of these performance measures to the GAAP measures.

The Company believes these non-GAAP measures and ratios, when taken together with the corresponding GAAP measures and ratios, provide meaningful supplemental information regarding the Company's performance and capital strength. The Company's management uses, and believes investors benefit from referring to, these non-GAAP measures and ratios in assessing the Company's operating results and related trends and when forecasting future periods. However, these non-GAAP measures and ratios should be considered in addition to, and not as a substitute for or preferable to, ratios prepared in accordance with GAAP. The Company has provided a reconciliation of, where applicable, the most comparable GAAP financial measures and ratios to the non-GAAP financial measures and ratios, or a reconciliation of the non-GAAP calculation of the financial measure for the periods indicated.

Tangible Book Value Per Common Share

	Year ended December 31,		Year ei	nded December 31,	
(\$ in thousands)		2021	2020		
Total shareholders' equity	\$	1,529,116	\$	1,078,975	
Less preferred stock		71,988		_	
Less goodwill		365,164		260,567	
Less intangible assets		22,286		23,084	
Tangible common equity	\$	1,069,678	\$	795,324	
		_			
Period end shares outstanding		37,820		31,210	
Tangible book value per common share	\$	28.28	\$	25.48	

## Pre-provision Net Revenue Return on Average Assets

	Year ended December 31,				
(\$ in thousands)		2021			
Net interest income	\$	360,194			
Noninterest income		67,743			
Less noninterest expense		245,919			
Branch-closure expenses		3,441			
Merger-related expenses		22,082			
PPNR	\$	207,541			
Average assets	\$	11,467,310			
ROAA - GAAP net income		1.16 %			
PPNR ROAA		1.81 %			

# Adjusted Return on Average Tangible Common Equity

	Year ended December 31,				
(\$ in thousands)		2021			
Net income - GAAP	\$	133,055			
Branch closure expenses		3,441			
CECL double count		25,353			
Merger-related expenses		22,082			
Related tax effect		(12,382)			
Adjusted net income - Non-GAAP	\$	171,549			
Average shareholders' equity	\$	1,277,153			
Less preferred stock		8,903			
Less goodwill		307,614			
Less intangible assets		22,460			
Average tangible common equity	\$	938,176			
Return on average tangible common equity - GAAP net income		14.18 %			
Return on average tangible common equity - Adjusted net income		18.29 %			



ENTERPRISE FINANCIAL SERVICES CORP 150 NORTH MERAMEC AVE CLAYTON, MO 63105



**VOTE BY INTERNET**Before The Meeting - Go to <u>www.proxyvote.com</u> or scan the QR Barcode above

Use the internet to transmit your voting instructions and for electronic delivery of information. Vote by 11:59 P.M. Eastern Time on May 2, 2022 for shares held directly and by 11:59 P.M. Eastern Time on April 29, 2022 for shares held directly and by 11:59 P.M. Eastern Time on April 29, 2022 for shares held directly proxy card in hand when you access the web site and follow the instructions to obtain your records and to create an electronic voting instruction form.

During The Meeting - Go to www.virtualshareholdermeeting.com/EFSC2022

You may attend the meeting via the Internet and vote during the meeting. Have the information that is printed in the box marked by the arrow available and follow the instructions.

the instructions.

VOTE BY PHONE - 1-800-690-6903

Use any touch-tone telephone to transmit your voting instructions. Vote by 11:59 P.M. Eastern Time on May 2, 2022 for shares held directly and by 11:59 P.M. Eastern Time on April 29, 2022 for shares held in a Plan. Have your proxy card in hand when you call and then follow the instructions.

VOTE BY MAIL
Complete, sign and date your proxy card and return it in the postage-paid envelope
we have provided or return it to Vote Processing, c/o Broadridge, 51 Mercedes Way,
Edgewood, NY 11717.

VOTE,	MARK BLOCKS BELOW IN BLUE OR BLACK	( INK AS FOLLOW	/S:			D71932-P69967	KEEP THIS	PORTION	FOR YOU	JR RECORD
_		THIS PRO	XY CA	RD IS VA	LID ONL		DETACH AND		_	
NTER	PRISE FINANCIAL SERVICES CORP		For All	Withhold All	For All Except	To withhold authority to vote for any individual nominee(s) mark "For All Except" and write the				
The Board of Directors recommends you vote FOR the following:		_	All All Except		nominee(s), mark "For All Except" and write the number(s) of the nominee(s) on the line below.					
1.	Proposal A, election of directors	0	0	0						
	Nominees:									
	03) Robert E. Guest, Jr. 10) Dan 04) James M. Havel 11) Rich 05) Michael R. Holmes 12) Anth 06) Peter H. Hui 13) Elois	es B. Lally when P. Marsh iel A. Rodrigues ard M. Sanborn nony R. Scavuzzo se E. Schmitz dra A. Van Trease								
The	Board of Directors recommends you ve	ote FOR Proposa	als B a	nd C:				For	Against	Abstain
2.	Proposal B, ratification of the appointment ending December 31, 2022.	nt of Deloitte & To	ouche l	LP as the C	Company's	independent registered public accounting firm for th	ne fiscal year			0
3.	Proposal C, an advisory (non-binding) vo	te to approve exe	cutive	compensat	ion.					0
NOT	TE: Such other business as may properly co	me before the me	eeting	or any post	ponement	or adjournment thereof.				
adm pers	ise sign exactly as your name(s) appear(s) inistrator, or other fiduciary, please give fuonally. All holders must sign, If a corporationartnership name by authorized officer.	ıll title as such. Jo	int own	ners should	each sign					
Sign	nature [PLEASE SIGN WITHIN BOX]	Date				Signature (Joint Owners)	Date			

#### Important Notice Regarding the Availability of Proxy Materials for the Annual Meeting:

The Notice and Proxy Statement and Form 10-K are available at www.proxyvote.com.

D71933-P69967

#### **ENTERPRISE FINANCIAL SERVICES CORP**

PROXY FOR ANNUAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS May 3, 2022 – 5:00 p.m., Central Time

### THIS PROXY IS SOLICITED ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The shareholder(s) whose signature(s) appear(s) on the reverse side of this proxy card hereby appoint(s) James B. Lally and Keene S. Turner, or either of them, each with full power of substitution, as proxies to vote all shares of Enterprise Financial Services Corp common stock that the shareholder(s) would be entitled to vote on all matters that properly come before the 2022 Annual Meeting and at any adjournment(s) or postponement(s). The proxies are authorized to vote in accordance with the specifications indicated by the shareholder(s) on the reverse side of this proxy card. This proxy card, when properly executed will be voted as directed. If this proxy card is signed and returned by the shareholder(s) and no specifications are indicated, the proxies are authorized to vote "FOR" the election of all nominees in Proposal A as unanimously recommended by the Board of Directors of Enterprise Financial Services Corp, and "FOR" Proposals B and C. If this proxy card is signed and returned, the proxies appointed thereby will be authorized to vote in their discretion on any other matters that may be presented for a vote at the 2022 Annual Meeting and at any adjournment(s) or postponement(s).

#### SHARES HELD IN THE EFSC INCENTIVE SAVINGS PLAN

This proxy is also to be used by current or former employees of the Company or its subsidiaries who have allocated investment funds to the EFSC Common Stock Fund in the EFSC Incentive Savings Plan (the "Savings Plan") to give voting instructions to the Savings Plan trustees. This proxy, when properly executed and delivered prior to 11:59 p.m. on April 29, 2022, will be voted by the Savings Plan trustees as directed.

Continued and to be signed on reverse side